Consolidated Balance Sheet

mABEERER

As at 31 December

w+=ZB=+—~H
2024 2023
—E@E ZEZ=F
Note uss$’000 us$’000
B 5 F=E=7T FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-RRE K& 6 122,437 138,193
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 4,614 4,600
Intangible assets mEE 8 970 1,527
Long-term prepayments REATAN IR 14 536 1,527
Deferred tax assets FRERIEE E 20 965 -
Investment in a joint venture R—EEErEZLE 10 626 -
Investment in an associate R—HEEEATZERE 11 4,149 5,013
Total non-current assets JERBEERE 134,297 150,860
Current assets RENE E
Inventories =58 13 126,871 137,680
Trade receivables FEWL & 5 BR R 14 33,576 33,755
Prepayments and other receivables FE{JFRIE R E M EURIE 14 7,111 10,084
Amounts due from related parties  FEURB REE A TIE 33(d) 319 772
Structured bank deposits EREIRITER 15 - 990
Short-term bank deposits ZHAIRITIERK 15 16,535 19,693
Restricted deposits PRl M TFFR 15 2,509 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 15 47,473 29,676
Total current assets WM EERE 234,394 232,650
Total assets BEHE 368,691 383,510
EQUITY el
Equity attributable to owners AT EE AEGEES
of the Company
Share capital & s 16 15,228 15,228
Reserves (=40 17 286,958 279,330
302,186 294,558
Non-controlling interest IEER R = 230 225
Total equity m4EEE 302,416 294,783
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

mAEBEERFER

As at 31 December

w+—-—BA=+—8
2024 2023
—E@E TEI=F
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
i FEx FE7
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 664 1,992
Lease liabilities HEaHE 7 2,698 2,744
Deferred income tax liabilities IRILFRISIREaRA 20 - 150
Retirement benefit obligations BABHERE 28 1,474 1,484
Total non-current liabilities JEREIAFEETE 4,836 6,370
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables FE1T B 5 BRX 18 11,254 18,391
Accruals and other payables FEStE R R EMEMRIE 18 21,894 18,265
Amounts due to related parties FENEREANLRIE 33(d) 643 596
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 24,655 41,662
Lease liabilities HEaHE 7 506 319
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFR ISR a & 2,487 3,124
Total current liabilities RENB LA 61,439 82,357
Total liabilities =Rk 66,275 88,727
Total equity and liabilities R KkaEeEE 368,691 383,510

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction _Ei#li4s &5 &E & & & FE & 3 18 B M 5 — 6
with the accompanying notes. B

The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 217 were HRE129E217TEZEEHHERERENR T
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2025 and were _—HAE=A-_+LHEEEIEFHRITHTIIA

signed on its behalf. THREZE-
Yang, Tou-Hsiung Yang, Kun-Hsiang Yang, Kun-Hsiang

¥ BRI 15 3 4

Director Director

EE EF
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Consolidated Income Statement

-] L
malkmER
Year ended 31 December
HE+-_B=+—BLt=EE
2024 2023
—ENEF —ERI=F
Note us$’000 Us$’000
M 5% TF=5T FET
Revenue g 5 380,184 386,171
Cost of sales HE A 22 (313,941) (330,741)
Gross profit EF 66,243 55,430
Selling and distribution expenses  $HERDHEX 22 (20,363) (19,826)
Administrative expenses TERAZ 22 (24,444) (22,503)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hthlhz, (B518) — %8 21 1,485 (122)
Operating profit R 22,921 12,979
Finance income WA 1,081 1,089
Finance costs B 32 H (1,537) (2,880)
Finance costs - net B X H— 23 (456) (1,791)
Share of post-tax loss of Eh—RHaEhE
a joint venture FRIR B E1E 10 (68) -
Share of post-tax loss of e — R E AT
an associate RIR B E1E 1" (864) (841)
Profit before income tax PRATIS A AIER 21,533 10,347
Income tax expense FriSfRE X 24 (5.462) (3,346)
Profit for the year KEERF] 16,071 7,001
Profit attributable to: UTESELET :
Owners of the Company KATEB A 16,046 6,986
Non-controlling interest R R 25 15
16,071 7,001
Earnings per share for profit TATEE AEEREE
attributable to the owners of wmAZERER
the Company during the year (U FREEWHIR)
(expressed in US cents per
share)
Basic earnings per share EREERRA 26 1.05 0.46
Diluted earnings per share SREERAN 26 1.05 0.46

The above consolidated income statement should be read in _Eit4F& Uz REEFABRBEMN S —RIE-
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEElmR

Year ended 31 December

BE+_BA=+—HLEHE

2024 2023
—EMmF ===
Us$°000 Us$'000
F%E7T FET
Profit for the year EEEHF 16,071 7,001
Other comprehensive loss: Hh2EE :
Item that may be reclassified to BB EEm ZEH
profit or loss
Currency translation differences PE = RE (753) (429)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, ZAFE[RREHMEEEIE
net of tax (753) (429)
Total comprehensive income TEERERALLE
for the year 15,318 6,572
Total comprehensive income for UTFEFELEEEERT
the year attributable to: WA 4a%E -
— Owners of the Company —ARREEEAN 15,293 6,557
— Non-controlling interest —JEERER 25 15
Total comprehensive income EEEZ@mMKALEE
for the year 15,318 6,572

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should  E#téR &

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. E=
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEEER

Attributable to owners of the Company

EYNGE PN
Non-
Share Share  Exchange Merger  Statutory  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interest Total equity

Bx  RiFEE ESHE  AHEE  IERE  REEY axt FRREE  HZAE
Us§000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US§'000
TR TR TR TER FER TR TR TR FER

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-A-H

a1 15,228 47,358 7334 79,994 901 140673 291,488 230 291,718
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit for the year KEEER - - - - - 6,986 6,986 15 7,001
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EEHH
Currency translation differences ERZER - - (429) - - - (429) - (429
Total comprehensive income 2EMALE - - (429) - - 6,986 6,557 15 6,572

Total transactions with owners BEFAZBRSE

Dividends (Note 25) B8 (zk25) - - - - - (3,487) (3,487) - (3,487)
Dividend payable to non-controlling ~ FERMB AT R RIER 2
interest of a subsidiary B - - - - - - - (20) (20)

Balance at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1+-A

b1 15,228 47,358 6,905 79,994 901 144,172 294,558 225 294,783
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZBZME-F-H

28R 15,228 47,358 6,905 79,994 901 144172 294,558 225 294,783
Comprehensive income 2EHBA
Profit for the year TEEET - - - - - 16,046 16,046 25 16,071
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EEH
Currency translation differences ERER - - (753) - - - (753) - (753)
Total comprehensive income 2EBALE - - (753) - - 16,046 15,293 25 15,318

Total transactions with owners ARBAZERFE

Reallocation of statutory reserve BHAREEHE - - - - n (72) - - -
Dividends (Note 25) &S (sE25) - - - - - (7,665) (7,665) - (7,665)
Dividend payable to non-controlling ~ EfAHBAR R ER

interest of a subsidiary ZRE - - - - - - - (20) (20)

Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+ZA=+-A
ZE 15,228 47,358 6,152 79,994 973 152,481 302,186 230 302,416

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be L #tt 4z & # & % 8 % FE % [3) 48 B Mt 5= — #F
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. BIgE o

Annual Report 2024 £3% 133



134

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRENER

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
ZENE “E-=F
Note Us$'000 US$'000
Mt FEr FEr
Cash flows from operating activities RETHEEZHEERE
Cash generated from operations EBEEZRE 30(a) 57,183 36,838
Interest paid BAFE (1,449) (2,831)
Income taxes paid B ER (7,112) (1,828)
Net cash generated from REEFHMEEZREFE
operating activities 48,622 32,179
Cash flows from investing activities REETHEEZRERE
Purchases of property, BEME BREKSE
plant and equipment (5,596) (8,945)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BER
plant and equipment BEZFRERIE 30(a) 37 192
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVEE 8 (3) -
Capital injection to a joint venture A—EEErETE 10 (694) -
Allotment of new shares to an associate m B = A B B B R A 1D " - (1,680)
Decrease/(increase) in short-term fﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁrﬂ
bank deposits () 3,158 (19,693)
Decrease/(increase) in structured ﬁ**ﬁ MIRITER
bank deposits B (g 990 (988)
Proceeds from return on structured %ﬁ,\uﬁl“ﬁﬁ TEREIR
bank deposits ZFEMIA = 2
Interest received BUH S 1,089 1,083
Net cash used in investing activities REEZBMAZREFE (1,019) (30,029)
Cash flows from financing activities MEZTHELEZRERE
Dividends paid BKRE 25 (7,665) (3,487)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMEMRIEA 30(b) 113,453 120,931
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTEE 30(b) (131,612) (136,615)
Increase in restricted deposits PR EI7F TR L A0 15 (2,509) -
Principal elements of lease payment HENRZEEHD 30(b) (564) (541)
Net cash used in financing activities MEZBAAZREFE (28.897) (19,712)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERAEEEMILM
and cash equivalents () 388 18,706 (17,562)
Cash and cash equivalents RENZRERREEEY
at beginning of year 15 29,676 47,810
Exchange losses on cash RERREEEMZ
and cash equivalents ERE5IE (909) (572)
Cash and cash equivalents RERZRER
at end of year RELEEY 15 47,473 29,676
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in Lt #ti4z & I8 £ i 2 & FE # [5) 48 B Mt 5= — 4
conjunction with the accompanying notes. E=O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Vedan International (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the manufacture and sale of fermentation-based food additives,
biochemical products and cassava starch-based industrial
products including modified starch, glucose syrup, Monosodium
Glutamate ("MSG”), soda, glutamic acid (“"GA") and others.
The products are sold to food distributors, international trading
companies, and manufacturers of food, paper, textiles, and
chemical products in Vietnam, other ASEAN member countries,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Japan, Taiwan, and
several European countries.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. The address of its registered office is P.O. Box
10008, Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-
1001, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of United
States dollars ("US$°000"), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
retirement benefit obligation and plan assets of defined benefit
plan and structured bank deposits, which are measured at fair
value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

—iREH

RAER (R ARAE (A28 &
HNBAR Ml laEl) T2REE
ERHESBLERMFNE EEE
mARARE RN TEEm SFREERN
AEREE KR (KB & salk
(THaig) REMM-ERDEETH
e HMRBEMEEEK FEARLME
(THE) “Bx - 5ERZEBMNER
e HEE BEREZQR  UKE
R SRRt IEREES-

KARBRHAEREIMRAIZERA
B o SRR ML (P.O. Box 10008,
Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand
Cayman KY1-1001, Cayman Islands ©

FTRABRNERBMERBPAARAT L

BREBETRMN EEMBHREUATET
(MF%=781) B -

FEROGREMBREADRBEFREER
NEBYBREEN (EBMBHREE
) BB B EG 6225 (REEH) KR
BREMRR -GEFBRRDIREBESE
BAEGIMARS > T LUIR AT EFTENE
BEAFINBRHRENEERFABEE
UREBERITERZEMRGEFELE
5Je

RMUENEEBVMBREENNGESHT
BREAEEERETEZNGSE M
EEEEERAERZ G ERBERR
TRERE R A <P RS R EFIERE
B S ERIXMEHHEHBERAEFEKR
TENBE BTEMERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 RNEE @
(a) Interpretation and amendments to standards (a) ZTEEHRMHZREREINETAR
adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following interpretation and AEBRRZZNF—F—HREB
amendments to standards which are mandatory for the ZHBEEERRMUTRERE
Group for the first time for the financial year beginning BENRAAN 2 B ERERNEST A

on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current ARG RaBEsBaRHy
or non-current EACAGCHES) FERE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with EREHER WHEREzFRBERE
covenants EACACHEN)
Hong Kong Interpretation  Presentation of financial statements BERBEST  MERRZEJ-EEA
5 (Revised) — classification by the borrower (CHEY HEAREKEER
of a term loan that contains a X2EHERZNE
repayment on demand clause
Amendments to Lease liability in a sale and ERUBRSED ERERzEEARE
HKFRS 16 leaseback B165 (B51H)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier finance arrangements EEGHER HEBREZH
and HKFRS 7 FIRRERY
HIREERETR
(CHEN
The adoption of the above interpretation and RN M Ee R R ZE IME 5T AR 3 e i
amendments to standards did not have any material NEAE SRR SR AR IE R T &
impact on the current period or any prior periods. Ko
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= A H

AR MR M

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2

(b)

The following new standards, amendments to standards (b)
and interpretations (together referred as “New Standards

and Amendments”) have been issued, but are not

effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January

2024 and have not been early adopted.

BREXE (@]

HEN)K

UTABEFAER _Z_NE—AH
—BRBZHBEERERER T
IRATIRMN Z M sT 28 ~ #E A R 52
BzEIR #HiEs T ER RE

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RTFEER
Rz BERZ
FEBARER

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1
ERGHENE2REAEANE
RELERIE 1SR (BT
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
BRMBREEFIRREBHM
B E R FE 7 (BT E)
Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7
EBUBREEE 158 BB
I EEERFE79E SEUHBR
HHEAFOR - FEBUBREE
AISE105R R BB Gt ERET75R
(E5T2x)
HKFRS 18

BERMBERERERB 189
HKFRS 19

BERMBREENS 195
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BERREEST (1E]4)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BERMBHREERFE109E KR
EARAGTERE28 (B5T140)

The Group will adopt the above New Standards and
Amendments as and when they become effective. Further
information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Lack of exchangeability
RZ B RiaM

Classification and measurement of financial
instruments

TRTENDEKRE

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

ERMBREERNEHENFELE-FNE

Presentation and disclosure in financial
statements

HHBRENBETRNIKE

Subsidiaries without public accountability:
Disclosures

TEAREEENRBAR - HE

Presentation of financial statements —
Classification by the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on demand clause

MHBRRZE2I—EEAHESREREEKRY
ZEHRERZDE

Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture

REEHHEBEATNGEEEZHEN
BEHEHIE

1 January 2025

—_E_HAFE—H—H

1 January 2026

1 January 2027

—E-tF—HF—H

1 January 2027

“Z-tEF—HF—H

1 January 2027

“Z”-tF—HF—H

To be determined

HHEE

A LM H T RAE§T A
£ R - B BB EAR A
EE>EBMBREENNE—S
B TSR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

Iz

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

The following new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations (together referred as “New Standards
and Amendments”) have been issued, but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January
2024 and have not been early adopted. (continued)

HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, including specified totals and subtotals.
Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the income statement into one of
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations, whereof the first
three are new. It also requires disclosure of newly defined
management-defined performance measures, subtotals of
income and expenses, and includes new requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of financial information
based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial
statements and the notes. In addition, narrow-scope
amendments have been made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, which include changing the starting point
for determining cash flows from operations under the
indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit
or loss” and removing the optionality around classification
of cash flows from dividends and interest. There are also
consequential amendments to several other standards.
HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards,
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2027, but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.
The new requirements are expected to impact the Group’s
presentation of the income statement and disclosures
of the Group’s financial performance. So far, the Group
considers that the adoption of HKFRS 18 is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

The directors of the Company have performed preliminary
assessment and do not anticipate any significant impact
on the Group’s financial position and results of operations
upon adopting these New Standards and Amendments to
existing HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFBImRERMIEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risks (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risks), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury
department (group treasury) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group treasury identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the
Group’s operating units. The board provides principles
for overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

(a)  Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally with most
of the transactions denominated in USS$,
Vietnam Dong and Renminbi. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily
through future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations that
are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operating
subsidiaries of the Group. The Group does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management of the Group monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

3

MR E IR
3.1 HBEEEREE

FEBMZEBEAZZBYHRR
miHER (BEIERBUKRES
MERATEMNREAR - EFERR
RRBEZRR - AEEZEER
REEFBERRMBEHEZAH
BRAMRSRERREMBEEE X
EEZHBRRZEBETANZE-

ERERHRP R (EEME
B REFEHENBRET -&F
MHEBEAEREEEMNRBSF
Rl st B s AR - EE G HIE
BERAREENRD UREER
TE %5 B R BER 0 ) 90 Sh EE R g~ A
XEB EERRKBEFRBES
ENESF= R

(@) WHHELE
(iy  SPEERBR
FEBREREEE
B ABIREUE
ToHEEERARES
B AEBAZHINE
REREEnsEENE
NEEENINEERU
SNBSS ERVIRSNE
BZRKEBERZ B
BREEKREBEURER
BEFfE-AEETER
o8] B Sh S SR EUER © 24
moAEREREEE
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BrEREMEARIIER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFBIRRMIEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(a)

(i)

(in)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At 31 December 2024, for the Group’s
subsidiaries whose functional currency is
US$, if the Vietnam Dong had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the US$ with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been US$1,228,000
(2023: US$969,000) lower/higher, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of trade and other receivables,
short-term bank deposits, restricted deposits,
cash and cash equivalents and trade and
other payables denominated in Vietnam
Dong.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets apart from bank balances and
short-term bank deposits, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's
exposure to interest rate risk related
primarily to variable rate bank borrowings of
US$25,319,000 (2023: US$27,345,000) and
fixed rate bank borrowings of US$Nil (2023:
US$16,309,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= B

AR MR M

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(a)

(b)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
(continued)

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk,
and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As
the tenure of the fixed-rate bank borrowings
range from one to two years, the directors
consider the exposures of present value
interest rate return to be insignificant. The
Group does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management of the Group
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
variable rate borrowings had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been US$108,000 (2023:
US$116,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on these
borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from bank deposits and bank
balances, trade receivables, other receivables and
amounts due from related parties.

Risk management

The carrying amount of bank deposits and
bank balances, trade receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related
parties included in the consolidated balance
sheet represents the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to these
financial assets.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management (continued)

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales of products are made to customers
with appropriate credit histories. The Group
has policies to assess the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal
or external ratings. The utilisation of credit
limits is regularly monitored.

For bank deposits and bank balances,
the Group only uses banks and financial
institutions with good reputation. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, all the bank
balances as detailed in Note 15 are held in
major financial institutions, which are either
state owned or with high credit quality.
Management believes that the credit risk for
bank deposits and bank balances is minimal.

Impairment of financial assets

While short-term bank deposits, restricted
deposits and cash and cash equivalents (2023:
structured bank deposit, short-term bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) are
also subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected losses for all trade
receivables.
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EEMFBImRERMIEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(b)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as 52% (2023:
47%) of its trade receivables from the five
(2023: five) largest trade receivables, which
are reputable corporations. Considering the
track record of regular repayment of trade
receivables based on the Group’s experience
with respect to the collection of these
receivables, the directors are of the opinion
that the risk of default by these customers is
not material.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that the
sales of goods are made to customers
with appropriate credit history and the
Group performs credit evaluations of these
counterparties and customers. The credit
periods of the majority of these trade
receivables are within 90 days and largely
comprise amounts receivable from business
customers. Given the track record of regular
repayment of receivables from customers, the
directors are of the opinion that the risk of
default by customers is not significant.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.
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2'&' A
i1 N = 2

3

FE 75 ER R B 5E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 WHBEKRERE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HBEBRERR (&)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE )
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i HBEEZRE @)
Trade receivables (continued) FEUWL & 5 BRFR (#8)
The expected loss rates are based on the TEEHBEEETL DA
payment profiles of sales over a period RZE_NME+_H
of 36 months before 31 December 2024 =+—H#i36/E 8 HH
and the corresponding historical credit ZHENREE RN
losses experienced within this period. The IAEKEZBEES S
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect EElE-BERHBEXE
current and forward-looking information on BAEUMRBEREZER
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability PHEMNEWRERENDZ
of the customers to settle the receivables. RHERBEREZ BRI
The Group has identified the GDP of China AIEMEEN AEEE
and Vietnam in which it sells its goods and HALHEHHES R KRR
services to be the most relevant factors, and FEFRTE M P Rl 2
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates BREEEBERRER
based on expected changes in these factors. HAE > EREZERER
2 TEHR N 1 FE SR B IR
SRR E
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 FHEEELEL - RIE
December 2024 and 2023 was determined as “_MERZIZEZ=
follows for trade receivables: +ZA=+—HZEW
BSRMZEEEET
EEWMT
More than
1-180 days  181-360 days 360 days
Current past due past due past due Total
—EopE o ki al.i
31 December 2024 +-B=+-H B 1E180H 181E360H 8183608 At
Expected loss rate BHERE 0% 1.01% 0% 100%
Gross carrying amount MIRmEfE
- trade receivables (US$'000)  —EEWE RN
(F%n) 31,125 2,476 - 452 34,053
Loss allowance (US$'000) BERfA (TZT - 25 - 452 477
More than
1-180 days ~ 181-360 days 360 days
Current past due past due past due Total
ZEC= k] ki ki
31 December 2023 +-A=z+-8 I 1£180H 181£360H BB360H Bt
Expected loss rate BHERE 0% 0.47% 0.95% 100%
Gross carrying amount MEmEfE
- trade receivables (US$'000)  —EWE R R
SE) 30,064 3,384 326 331 34,105
Loss allowance (US$'000) EERE (TZT) - 16 3 331 350
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AR MR M

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)
As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowances
for trade receivables were US$477,000 (2023:
US$350,000). Management are of opinion
that that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivable has been made.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties

The management considers that its credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty
historical default rate and current financial
position. As at 31 December 2024, the
impairment provision of US$273,000 (2023:
US$277,000) is determined based on the
12-month expected credit losses.

Liquidity risk
Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity
requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises undrawn
borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents
on the basis of expected cash flows. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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AR MBS RRIEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3 MERKRERE G

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HBEBRERR (&)
(c)  Ligquidity risk (continued) () AEELERE #)
The table below analyses the Group's financial THRBIZEGEEBEESHNT
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based HHB THERAERZ
on the remaining period at the balance sheet HaEns A HEEE AR E
date to the contractual maturity date. The ToOM-RNREPIREZ
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual AEHNRBRFAERE -
undiscounted cash flows.
Less than
1 year or Between Between Over
ondemand 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
—ERFREX —E£ERE WEERE BRLE fit
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
e S TEn e TEn
At 31 December 2024 RIZ-mE
TZA=+-H
Trade payables B ZRM 11,254 - - - 11,254
Other payables and accruals — EMIENHBRESER 8,230 - - - 8,230
Amounts due to related parties FEfIERIEA LB 643 - - - 643
Bank borrowings (Note) RITHE (W) 25,478 721 - - 26,199
Lease liabilities (Note) HESR (H&) 596 590 1,282 1,598 4,066
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=
+ZA=+-H
Trade payables EERRT 18,391 - - - 18,391
Other payables and accruals ~ EMIEMFHERESER 7,632 - - - 7,632
Amounts due to related parties FEf3ABEA 3B 596 - - - 59
Bank borrowings (Note) HBITRE () 43,258 1,406 742 - 45,406
Lease liabilities (Note) REARE () 544 479 1303 1735 4,061
Note: MEEE -
The balances include interest payable on bank borrowings EREHEEEESISHEME
and lease liabilities up to their respective maturities. TEEREEEEERHDZFIE
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BFXERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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R M B RRIEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.2 Capital management (continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by owners’
equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. Total
borrowings include bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

During 2024, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged
from 2023, was to maintain a reasonable gearing ratio.
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
as follows:

RIERGEIRE (48)
3.2 EXEE G

HENHMAT K FEEUE
ERBELEXBEERERELR ZLE
KRG GEERBARMITZEBMESR
PRUER A H - REERE
RITEEREERRE

AR NE AEEZRIKE T
S =FEFRMEER M
FEEABRBRILERSEKE R
TECNER-_E-_=%+_"A1
=t+—HZEESGELERNT

2024 2023
—EME —E=

Uss$’000 Us$’000

FE7w FET

Total borrowings e 28,523 46,717
Owners’ equity (including non- B AN (BIEFIA

controlling interest in equity) a2 JEERE ) 302,416 294,783

Gearing ratio BEAMRALE 9.4% 15.8%

The gearing ratio decreased from 15.8% to 9.4% as a
result of gradual repayment of borrowings.

0] Loan covenants
Under the terms of the major bank loans of
US$15,270,000, Vedan (Vietnam) Enterprise
Corporation Limited (“Vedan Vietnam”), a
subsidiary of the Company is required to comply
with the following financial covenants at the end of
each annual and interim reporting period:

. the ratio of current ratio of Vedan Vietnam
shall be higher or equal 1, and

. the ratio of debt ratio of Vedan Vietnam shall
be less or equal 3

o the ratio of EBIT to long term debt of Vedan
Vietnam shall be higher or equal 1

Vedan Vietnam has complied with these covenants
throughout the reporting period. As at 31
December 2024, the ratio of current asset to
current liabilities was approximately 3.2, the ratio of
debt ratio was approximately 0.28 and the ratio of
EBIT to long term debt was approximately 1.9.

EZELEERH EEEELER
15.8% FPEEQ.4%

(1) B
R#15,270,000ETH E
ZIRTERGEH > AAEZ
it B A S Vedan (Vietnam)
Enterprise Corporation Limited
(TVedan Vietnam) BR &
FERPHBEHARETU
TEAFSEREE

. Vedan VietnamzZ i &h
EEEMLEAIESR S
S Rd

. Vedan VietnamzZ &f&
EERBEREEN3

. Vedan VietnamZEBIT{4
RHEaENLEERESN
FEM

Vedan Vietnami? 2 1E #R & HB
BMEETZEZLHE - RNZ
—ME+—B=+—8> R
EEHRBAEENLEERNS
3.2 BELEEHNA0.28M
EBITAHRHIEHENLEERANS
1.90
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBEARKRERE @)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEfhE
The carrying values less impairment provisions of ERFEWE 5 8RR & H iU
trade and other receivables, amounts due from related E-EWBERMEATRE ZRH
parties, restricted deposits, short-term bank deposits FRCEHRIBRTERRRERRES
and cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables LZEY BUNEIRAREMEN
and amounts due to related parties are assumed to MEUKREMNBEREALTRIEBR
approximate their fair values because of their short HAME AEERBREHKRBERAR
maturities. ERERERQTERE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) XFEER
This section explains the judgements and estimates AEMEEERMBRERA
made in determining the fair values of the financial BAFEBERRTENER
instruments that are recognised and measured at T A8 A ERFF B 2 En
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an Kefdst e ABEETE A TFEFR
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in R ASURRY AT 41512 &
determining fair value, the Group has classified its EEEZEHENRELES
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed MTESBA=ERERK-
under the accounting standards.
Level 2
B
Us$'000
FE7
Recurring fair value measurements EE MR TEE
At 31 December 2024 KRZIZE_MNE+ZA=+—H
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABZINTBEEE
through profit or loss
Structured bank deposits EREMIEITER -
Recurring fair value measurements BEMLNFEE
At 31 December 2023 RZIZEZ_=F+"A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value HBATEHABENHBEE
through profit or loss
Structured bank deposits EREIRITER 990

148  Vedan International (Holdings) Limited B3 EIR (288) B IRA S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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AR MR M

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

(1)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The Group did not change any valuation techniques
in determining the level 2 fair values.

There were no transfers among different levels of
fair values measurement during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for
unlisted equity securities and for instruments where
ESG risk gives rise to a significant unobservable
adjustment.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use

of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise

judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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A5 R MY 5E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. Property, plant and equipment that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period. These
calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Estimated expected credit loss allowance for
financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets is based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The cost of inventories
is written down to net realisable value when there is
objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not be
recoverable. The amount written off to profit or loss is the
difference between the carrying value and net realisable
value of the inventories. In determining whether the cost
of inventories can be recovered, significant judgements
are required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent
and the means by which the amount will be recovered.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling products
of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer preference and competitor
actions in response to market conditions.
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R M B RRIEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors collectively. The Executive Directors
review the Group’s policies and information for the purposes
of assessing performance and allocating resources. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has been operating
in one single business segment, i.e. the manufacture and sale
of fermentation-based food additives, biochemical products

SEpE

TEEERRECHESAERENTE
B HTEFERLERZHRKRERU
ARRERDEER - BE_FT_NF
+TZB=t+—HLEFE xERLEE @
BE—XBo% IRERHELERMA
MBI EERRABERMIEEMR &
mEMERD BEREE KB S&8E%Kk

and cassava starch-based industrial products including modified Hth (Z2Z=F : HR)
starch, glucose syrup, MSG, GA and others (2023: same).
(a) Revenue (a) Ukzs
2024 2023
uss$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FE
Sales of goods HEEW 380,184 386,171
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities BRI E B2 War

The Group receives payments from certain customers
in advance of the performance under the contracts.
The following table shows how much of the revenue

FEARBITENABIRETER
2R FPRETRN AR S ™
Rz REEEESNAaEZEM

recognised in the current reporting period relates to BE-
carried-forward contract liabilities.
2024 2023
—EME ZEI=E
Uss$‘000 Us$’000
F=5T FE
Revenue recognised that was included EtAFEH BN EEEFHZ
in the contract liabilities balance at B E
the beginning of the year 4,579 4,339

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of
approximately US$41,156,000 (2023: US$44,004,000) is
derived from a single external customer located in Japan.
The revenue is attributable to MSG and GA products.

All contracts are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

HE_ZMOF+A=+—HIL
FRE YR 441,156,000 T (ZF
=4 144,004,000 7T) JRE B A
ZE—HBEL  -RIEWGHE B K
ERAEREER-

FREGHNZHREA—FHUT-
REEBUHFREENBI15REIR
B UERENRTRERRETS
MZRZER-
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

(a) Revenue (continued)
The Group's revenue by geographical location, which is
determined by the geographical presence of customers, is

BEPEH ()

(a) Uz ()
AEREMIBUE (HER#MIE
BERATE S0z

as follows:

2024 2023
—E@E TEI=F
Us$'000 Us$'000
F=xT FE
Vietnam 2] 165,956 173,560
Japan H 69,604 71,045
The PRC ==] 5 56,145 54,965

ASEAN member countries RERERE (FEIEHRE)

(other than Vietnam) 31,538 31,185
The US =E 29,539 24,456
Other regions Hihih & 27,402 30,960

380,184 386,171
Accounting policy of revenue recognition W fREER 2 B AT
(i) Sales of goods iy SHEEW

Sales are recognised when control of the product
has been transferred, being when the product are
delivered, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
product. The risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer upon delivery or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from the sale of goods is based on the
price specified in the sales contracts. No element of
financing is deemed present as the sales are made
with a credit term from cash on delivery to 30-90
days, which is consistent with market practice.

Receivable is recognised when the product is
delivered as this is the point in time when the
consideration is unconditional, which only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFBImRERMIEE

5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or
payments received in advance for sales of goods not
yet delivered to customers. Revenue is recognised
when goods are delivered to customers.

Non-current assets, other than prepayments, by location,
which is determined by the country in which the asset is

SEWER (B
(a) Uik ()

W7k ERR 2 B 5T R (4E)

(iy BHERE

BHARBEIERARRINTE
RzEmEZRAWE SN
TREM - WENERRXNYTF
= P eSS

(b) RUE (REEFMEEZRE) 815

ZIERBEE (FAARERI) W

located, are as follows: B

2024 2023
—EME —ET=

uss$’000 Us$'000
FET FE=
Vietnam 2] 125,654 140,093
The PRC A 8,105 9,240
Cambodia RIHE 2 -
Total =5 133,761 149,333
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AR M B RRMEE

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 WME-BER®RE
Construction- Plant and Motor Office
in-progress Properties machinery vehicles  equipment Total
TEIR Mg ERRER RE WAERME &t
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
R R TER TER R R
At 1 January 2023 RZB2Z=%-A—-8
Cost A 57,545 113,156 477,869 10,420 20,990 679,980
Accumulated depreciation SHTE - (86,888) (408,635) (8,166) (19,224) (522,913)
Accumulated impairment RitAfdE - (1,214) (3,757) - (22) (4,993)
Net book amount REFE 57,545 25,054 65,477 2,254 1,744 152,074
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E-=
+ZB=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount FAREEE 57,545 25,054 65,477 2,254 1,744 152,074
Additions RE 5,721 179 1,928 183 269 8,280
Transfer =5 (54,969) 9,663 44,907 131 89 (179)
Disposals (Note 30) HE (iE30) - (48) (236) ) ) (290)
Depreciation (Note 22) E (Mk22) - (3,276) (17,006) (535) (473) (21,290)
Written-off (Note 22) sy (H3E22) (272) - (1) (1) (3) @77)
Exchange differences EREH - (86) (33) (5) (1) (125)
Closing net book amount FRREEE 8,025 31,486 95,036 2,023 1,623 138,193
At 31 December 2023 WZBZ=%+ZA=1+—-H
Cost 8,025 122,797 524,282 10,670 21,318 687,092
Accumulated depreciation - (90,097) (425,489) (8,647) (19,673) (543,906)
Accumulated impairment - (1,214) (3,757) - (22) (4,993)
Net book amount REFE 8,025 31,486 95,036 2,023 1,623 138,193
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZomE
+ZB=+—-BLEE
Opening net book amount FNRAEZE 8,025 31,486 95,036 2,023 1,623 138,193
Additions RE 3,784 28 1,660 499 659 6,630
Transfer =E (10,130) 1,588 8,495 - 47 -
Disposals (Note 30) HE (H15830) - - (60) (13) - (73)
Depreciation (Note 22) E (fEE22) - (3,460) (17,610) (490) (498) (22,058)
Written-off (Note 22) Mg (ff5E22) (96) - (49) (®) (1) (154)
Exchange differences ERES - (70) (26) [€) ) (101)
Closing net book amount FREEEE 1,583 29,572 87,446 2,008 1,828 122,437
At 31 December 2024 KZBZME+=ZA=+—-H
Cost A 1,583 122,212 528,808 10,293 21,809 684,705
Accumulated depreciation ZEME - (91,426) (437,605) (8,285) (19,959) (557,275)
Accumulated impairment Z5tHE - (1,214) (3,757) - (22) (4,993)
Net book amount REFE 1,583 29,572 87,446 2,008 1,828 122,437
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Property, plant and equipment, except for construction-
in-progress, is stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged in
the consolidated income statement during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Properties 15-50 years
— Plant and machinery 10-20 years
— Motor vehicles 5-8 years
— Office equipment 5-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other gains — net’, in the consolidated income statement.

Construction-in-progress, comprising capital expenditure on
buildings and plant where the construction work has not been
completed, is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress.

Depreciation expense of US$20,791,000 (2023: US$20,507,000)
has been charged in cost of sales, US$662,000 (2023:
US$467,000) in selling and distribution expenses and
US$605,000 (2023: US$316,000) in administrative expenses.

During the year, there is no capitalised borrowing costs (2023:
capitalised borrowing costs amounting to US$49,000) on
qualifying assets.

As at 31 December 2024, there is no property, plant and
equipment pledged as collaterals (2023: same).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= A H

AR MR M

6

ME B Rk=thk (8

ME- -BERRHE EEIRRKRIN HR
ELAAHRATER R AEERY
fR-BEEMABEEZARKEERNEA
Ho

BERIER AR RGBT RER
AFEERBEEMAETRAER  HE
BAFEABERBOERERRBIL
BHE WMER) -EEMANNREERL
BoFMBEREMEERFERNTEREELD
MR iR R AR

ME- -BERRBOINEDANBEREE
HEs IR ERREMETDEERFT
BREESE HIWMT

— ¥ 15-504
— BB R s 10-204E
— "RHE 5-84F
— WAERE 5-84F

BEZNGEERIERFHENER
SHARTUBRAKRAR WEA) -

HEERBERMGTOATKRERES
A BE E R AR EE R 1L 2 R = AT
Wy [E] R %8

HEZRBHEBRAFHRIEARAE
fRELERMEETE > W5 A MR & W et RAIRESTD
AITEMIKZE — B8 -

TEIRBERTERBFREENE R
St DU AR R et BB E AR T
TRAFIFE-

ERI%20,791,000% T (ZB =
20,507,000%75) * 662,000 7T (Z &
Z— =% :467,000% 7t) 52605,000% 75 (=
T~ =4 :316,000%7T) EDRIFT AHE
BiAs~ $HE R DB U R ITHE S o

FER AERNEMRGEREELE KRB
BRA (CE_=F EXEERAS
49,0003 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 7 FERARKEEREEAE®R
(i) Amount recognised in the consolidated balance (i) MREAEEEBREINEEE
sheet
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following REEEAERYIUTHEES
amounts relating to leases: RAMEEE -
2024 2023
—E@E TEI=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FET FET
Land use rights T A 3,343 3,568
Building g 1,262 1,023
Equipment g 9 9
Total right-of-use assets FRAEEERLE 4,614 4,600
Current lease liabilities AEEEAE 506 319
Non-current lease liabilities ERBEEAR 2,698 2,744
Total lease liabilities HEaBERE 3,204 3,063
Movement of right-of-use assets for the year: FREREEENES
2024 2023
—E@E TEI=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FET FET
At 1 January w—A—H 4,600 5,152
Additions for the year FARE 618 29
Amortisation of right-of-use assets EREEESHE fY5E22)
(Note 22) (581) (553)
Exchange differences FEREEE (23) (28)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 4,614 4,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBERERME
7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 7 EHARBEERBEARE (@
(continued)
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) MEEWREREDNEER
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following FEWRERBIIUATHEEAEEREN
amounts relating to leases: HEE
2024 2023
ZEIME ZEI=HF
Uss$’000 Us$'000
FE7T TFET
Amortisation charge of right-of-use FREEENSNRE
assets (Note 30(a)): #eE (MF5E30(a)) :
Land use rights + s A 203 193
Building BF 378 360
581 553
Interest expense (included in MERMZ GTAREZWY)
finance cost) 88 98
Expense relating to short-term leases  ER%EHATAEARIMIRE X
(included in cost of goods sold and GtABEERmME K
administrative expenses) THRX) 190 87

(iii)

The total cash outflow for leases, including payment for
short-term leases, for the year ended 31 December 2024
was US$754,000 (2023: US$628,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The land use rights of the Group are located in the PRC
and Vietnam.

Xiamen Vedan Foods Co. Ltd (“Xiamen Vedan”) and
Shanghai Vedan Enterprise Co. Ltd (“Shanghai Vedan”),
subsidiaries established and operating in the PRC, have
each been granted rights to use two lands in the PRC by
the relevant authority for 50 years, which will expire in
2042 and 2060, respectively.

(iii)

HE_F-_ME+-A=+—AHL
FENHAENRESRHERE (81
A EMNR) B754,000F 7T (&
T =4 628,000%TT) ©

FEBNEEEIRAREBEEDH
Z2HE

75 52 [ B9 - ith 65 PR R 31 58 PP D e i
#Ho

RAER L R EEME AT EM
FARRARAE (EF®H) K
EEGRHMEERERAR (TLBK
1) & BEARMEPIR TR EA
FEmELE  FHR50FE D
RN —FEMN—FRZFRTEE
2o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

accounted for (continued)

Vedan (Vietnam) Enterprise Corporation Limited, a
subsidiary established and operating in Vietnam, has
obtained the rights to use certain lands in Vietnam by the
relevant authority for 43 to 50 years, which will expire in
2041.

Rental contract for building is made for a fixed period of
10 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interest in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the fixed payments.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

accounted for (continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability; and

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights to
use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for 43 to 50 years. Amortisation of land use
rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period
of leases.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office
furniture.

7

EREEERBESR (8)

(iii)
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AR MBS RRIEE

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 ®mIEE
Software
Goodwill and licence Trademarks Total
He B RER L At
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FTEx ST FE7 S
At 1 January 2023 RZZ2Z=%5—-HA—H
Cost A 8,568 2,265 12,189 23,022
Accumulated amortisation Rty - (2,066) (12,189) (14,255)
Accumulated impairment REHAME (6,687) - - (6,687)
Net book amount REFE 1,881 199 - 2,080
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZZ-=
+ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount EVREFE 1,881 199 - 2,080
Amortisation charge (Note 22) HIHR S (ff522) - (1) - ()
Transfer [ - 179 - 179
Impairment loss (Note 21) MBS (fEt21) (680) - - (680)
Exchange differences EREE 19 - - 19
Closing net book amount EREEFE 1,220 307 - 1,527
At 31 December 2023 RZZ2Z=&+ZA=1+—H
Cost 2 8,587 2,444 12,189 23,220
Accumulated amortisation Rty - (2,137) (12,189) (14,326)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (7,367) - - (7,367)
Net book amount FREZE 1,220 307 - 1,527
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z-mE
+ZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNEERE 1,220 307 - 1,527
Amortisation charge (Note 22) HHEY (ME22) - (70) - (70)
Addition RE - 3 - 3
Impairment loss (Note 21) HERE (ME21) (491) - - (491)
Exchange differences ERERE 1 - - 1
Closing net book amount FRIEREFE 730 240 - 970
At 31 December 2024 RZB_ME+-B=+—H
Cost A 8,588 2,447 12,189 23,224
Accumulated amortisation Rt - (2,207) (12,189) (14,396)
Accumulated impairment REAE (7,858) - - (7,858)
Net book amount REBE 730 240 - 970

Amortisation charge is included in administrative expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= A H

AR MR M

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill:

Goodwill is attributed to the Group’s CGUs according to

8 ®mEEE @@
EERERN

AEDREEESHDEENERHN

operating segment. RE B
The PRC Vietnam
MSG MSG
related related
business business Total
& R A Fgea]le 3 o
TR T THRAER st
Us$’000 Us$’000 US$'000
FE FTEr FE
At 31 December 2024 = =
+=ZA=+—H - 730 730
At 31 December 2023 RIZEZ=
+Z-A=+—H 490 730 1,220

Management determined the recoverable amount based on
the higher of value-in-use (“VIU") and the fair value less cost
of disposal (“FVLCD") calculations of the cash-generating unit
("CGU"). The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined
based on VIU calculations. These calculations use pre-tax
cash flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management and approved by the Board of Directors covering
a five years period. Cash flows beyond the five years period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below
if applicable. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term
average growth rates for the MSG related business in which the
CGU operates.

The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation of

EEERBEFEHRNIRE BN (THREUR
TEA) NEREE (EREHE) &2
FEREENS (A FEBHEMRE)
W& PRV S E E E AT YR Bl EE o BREVIR
TEMUNTREZERBREREESE
EE - ZEAECAENEEERARE
EFeMEZIFHMRBATREZF
RARERERAET BHEFHZR
TREBEAUTHRII 2 EFHERERER
(WER) - BREFAEESNHRINREE
fUFTEEZ KB RREH N R TI9E

%o

BUFETEREEERNREEMUR

the goodwill in the PRC MSG related CGU are as follows. EBFRAEEZEFERRWM T
The PRC
I
2024 2023
ZEME —E=F
Sales per annum (US$'000) FFEHESE (TE7T) 16,408 - 19,067 15,393 — 19,067
Growth rate in sales HERREE 5% - 7% 5% — 18%
Gross margin EFE 15.8% - 16.3% 14.6% - 16.3%
Other operating costs per annum SFEEMEEMRSE

(US$°000) (F=7) 1,977 - 2,206 1,883 - 2,206
Long term growth rate REAIERZ 2% 2%
Discount rate (pre-tax) IR (#aD) 15.3% 15.3%
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AR M IR R MR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill: (continued)

Sales per annum and growth rate in sales are estimated with
reference to the past performance of the CGU, management’s
expectations of market development, current industry trends
and long term inflation forecasts.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and its expectations of market developments. The
discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the relevant operating segments.

Other operating costs are the fixed costs of the CGUs, which do
not vary significantly with sales volumes or prices. Management
forecasts these costs based on the current structure of the
business, adjusting for inflationary increases and these do not
reflect any future restructurings or cost saving measures. The
amounts disclosed above are the average operating costs for
the five-year forecast period.

For the goodwill of the PRC MSG related business, the
recoverable amount calculated based on value-in-use
calculation is lower than its carrying value and therefore a
further provision for impairment of goodwill of US$491,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
US$680,000).

For the goodwill of Vietham MSG related business, based
on the impairment review performed by management, the
recoverable amount calculated based on the value-in-use
calculations exceeds its carrying value and no impairment is
considered necessary for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= B

AR MR M

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill: (continued)

Accounting policy regarding intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units ("CGUs"”), or groups of
CGUs, expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Trademarks and license

Separately acquired trademarks and the license,
which have finite useful lives, are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost of trademarks and license over their
estimated useful lives of 6 to 10 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years.

mEEE (8)
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BRSEHEEZEUN—HEM
AERMABEEEREEZRE
BE -#BEREESEEETSE
=

BESFETHERN TENA
EHHRERBERAEETAIEHR
WER  (FHERTRN -BER
HEAJKEIEE BEREES
ATERHEEREZREE) fFLt
R EMAEMNRERARS B
HEAgEmE -

BIERIEE
AERERGEAENZBTKES
75 1% R b B 4 A L 2 S8 R
(RSB ABE - B8N T R E 0% 3t
B0 LU 1B R B BB B A R B A
EEHEEHEIEBERNETS
B2 o

EREEF
BANBRREERREBEERE
BB ERMSIENRETER
b - BRI AR E (45 5] i £ 17
HEEH-
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AR MBS RRIEE

9 SUBSIDIARIES 9 MEBAAE
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at THAR_ZE_NE+"A=+—HZ
31 December 2024: TEWNBARBE !
Proportion of
Proportion of ordinary shares
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of ordinary shares held by
establishment and Principal activities and issued/paid up held by non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity  place of operation share capital the Group interest
El32d 0 5
FEMALIL, FRILE FEERAZ BREZ
Y MRiEEERER TEEBREEGY BET/BHRREHE BERLA BERLA
Directly held:
=p:757 -
Winball Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 Ordinary shares of 100% -
("BVI") US$1 each
HBRELHE AEBRELZR 100k BREE1ZTH
(RERLER)) LiEk
Talent Top Investment Ltd. BVI Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 Ordinary shares of 100% -
US$1 each
HEBELHE AEBREZR 100 B REE1Z7TH
Efili
Indirectly hefd:
BEEE -
Burghley Enterprise Pte., Ltd. Singapore Investment holding in Singapore US$61,109,000 Ordinary 100% -
shares
MR ERIMRREER 61,109,000 T & @M
Ordino Investments Pte., Ltd. Singapore Investment holding in Singapore US$20,177,000 Ordinary 100% -
shares
MR ERIRREER 20,177,000% T & @R
Vedan (Vietnam) Enterprise Vietnam Manufacturing and sale of 171,574,967 Ordinary 99.9% 0.1%
Corporation Limited fermentation-based food additives shares of US$1 each

and biochemical products and
cassava starch-based industrial
products including MSG, GA,
modified starch, glucose syrup,
soda and acid in Vietnam and for
export
e TEHEREREERHRRAM 171,574,967 S REE
B A ERRABRNIXE 1ETHERR
m BERE S8R Z2UHR
0 AERER FTRERILENO
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R M B RRIEE

9 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 9

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at
31 December 2024: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and Principal activities and

B 28 (&)

THBAR_E_mE+_RB=+—HZ2
TERBAREE (8

Particulars of
issued/paid up

Proportion of

Proportion of  ordinary shares
ordinary shares held by

held by non-controlling

Name kind of legal entity  place of operation share capital the Group interest
E[32 0 5]
FEMRALIL, R FEERAZ "BRZ
218 Mkt E BRRER TEEBREEN BRI/ BRREHE BRERLA BRERLA
Shanghai Vedan Enterprise Co. Ltd. PRC, limited liability Packaging and sale of MSG, starch, ~ US$9,800,000 100% -
company seasoning and other products in Registered capital
the PRC
LERBEEBRAF FEBREEAR  EPESEREERE BH - EK  9,800,000F T
B KREMER EEN
Xiamen Vedan Foods Co. Ltd. PRC, limited liability Packaging and sale of MSG, starch, ~ US$20,270,000 100% -
company seasoning and other products in Registered capital
the PRC
EMFAERERAT FEBREEAT  ETESERBERE RH AKX 20,270,000% T
B R EAME @ i
Xiamen Darong Import & Export PRC, limited liability Sale of starch and other products in ~ US$254,000 100% -
Trade Co., Ltd. company the PRC Registered capital
EMABRELOERBERAR FEBREEAE ETEHEERMREMER 254,000& T BE R
Vedan International (Cambodia) Cambodia Sale of fermentation-based food Registered capital of Riels 100% -
Co., Ltd. additives and biochemical 2,640,000,000

products and cassava starch-based
industrial products in Cambodia
and for export

REE RRBEUSERARFME &
EERRABRNIXERHE
R0

SE{ & 42,640,000,000
byl
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AR MBS RRIEE

10 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 10 R—HESETLEZRE
Movement of the investment in a joint venture is as follows: R—EEEEEZREZEFHUT
2024 2023
ZEIME —E=HF
Us$'000 Us$'000
T=7 FE7T
As at 1 January w—A—H = -
Capital injection AE 694 -
Share of post-tax loss of a joint venture FEE—HEERERRE
B518 (68) -
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H 626 -
Nature of the investment in a joint venture as at 31 December RIZZNFE+ZA=+—HB R—MHEa
2024: EhEZREMENT
Country of % Measurement
Name Incorporation Share capital interest held method
%18 B iR Bl 37 B 5K fig 7 HEER% HERE
VM Agrisolutions Co., Ltd. Vietnam VND35,190,000 50 Equity

(equivalent to
Us$1,500,000)

HE 35,190,000/ (HHE 50 @ #EE
#21,500,0005% 75)

The joint venture is principally engaged in biostimulant products ZEETLEFTERETEYRNIRERE
trading. N

VM Agrisolutions Co., Ltd. is a private company and there is no VM Agrisolutions Co., Ltd.BFfAAAT"
quoted market price available for its shares. BERMUESGHRE
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R M B RRIEE

11 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 11 R—HEBEATZEE
Movement of the investment in an associate is as follows: R—EBEARZREZEEHUWT !
2024 2023
—EHE _EC=HF
us$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FE=x
As at 1 January w—B—H 5,013 4,174
Allotment of new shares g 32 T AR - 1,680
Share of post-tax loss of an associate FEME—MEE QSRR E
E518 (864) (841)
As at 31 December B+_-_HB=+—H 4,149 5,013
Nature of the investment in an associate as at 31 December R_E_WER_E_ZF+_H

2024 and 2023:

=t—B R—EBREARZRENEN

T
Country of Particulars of % Measurement
Name Incorporation issued share capital interest held method
EuY ] ERIZAvAEES BEITRAEHE FAEZ% HERE
Dacin International The Cayman Islands 26,627,559 shares 30 Equity
Holdings Limited (2023: 26,627,559

shares) of US$1 each
EMERZERBRAR HEHS 26,627,5598% R

(ZBZ=

26,627,5590%) @A

HE1ETZR?

The associate is principally engaged in real estate development
in Vietnam.

Dacin International Holdings Limited is a private company and
there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

ZBMEARNTIENUERERMELER

EMERZERAERATDRMAAT BE
BRA7 I SR T 5 R AE o
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AR MBS RRIEE

11 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 11 R—HEBEATZESE (@)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information B E R EHER
2024 2023
—EIME —EB=F
us$'000 us$'000
F=T FEr
Net assets as at 1 January R—A—BZEEFE 16,711 13,913
Allotment of new shares during the year REEFER - 5,600
Loss for the year NEEEIE (2.881) (2,802)
Net assets as at 31 December ®W+ZA=+—HBz2
BHERE 13,830 16,711
Interest in an associate (30%) REGE AT 2 &= (30%) 4,149 5,013
12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 12 RENISZEMIA
2024 2023
ZEIME BT
US$'000 Us$’000
FE7x FET
Financial assets at amortised cost HIBER A EZ
— Trade receivables —FEWE F R 33,576 33,755
— Other receivables —HhE RIS 475 503
— Amounts due from related parties — BB RIEANLHRIE 319 772
— Short-term bank deposit —RHRITEMR 16,535 19,693
— Restricted deposits —ZBREIFER 2,509 -
— Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEEY 47,473 29,676
Financial assets at fair value through BATESABEN
profit or loss MEEE
— Structured bank deposits —EBMEIRITER = 990
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBHERAHEZ
MEasE
— Trade payables —ENEBZERR 11,254 18,391
— Other payables and accruals —HMEMRIER
Bt & A 8,230 7,632
— Amounts due to related parties — B EREANLRIE 643 596
— Bank borrowings —iRITEE 25,319 43,654
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R M B RRIEE

13

INVENTORIES 13 =Z8
2024 2023
“EME ZEZ=F
us$000 Us$'000
FE7T FE=x
Consumables JHEE SR 5,621 7,520
Raw materials FE At 61,366 72,543
Work in progress RS 4,928 4,980
Finished goods By 55,706 53,330
127,621 138,373

Less: Provision for impairment losses on B FERERERE

inventories (750) (693)
126,871 137,680

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity).
It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Consumables are included within
inventories and stated at cost, using the weighted average
method.

Notes:

(i) The cost of inventories of US$254,591,000 (2023:
US$278,617,000) has been charged in cost of sales.

(i) The provision for impairment of inventories included in cost of
sales amounted to US$57,000 (2023: US$641,000).

FEUMAETZRFEMENREE
ABR AR T EFH - R mA
ERMmMEAEERME BERAT Hith
ERmAMEMEEER UEBER
SH) CEXBEEERE - TEEREFE
BREEEBTAESNEERTHMGE
PLA RS E PR BBV A5t B A5t B o JHFEm
STAGFES  WAEAMNEFE AL R AT
fRo

(i) FEMA254,591,000E T (ZE =
£:278,617,000%7T) B 5t ASHE M A o

iy BENHEERFIZEFEREERERS

57,000E T (ZB - =4 FEFERERE
#641,000%7T) ©
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grﬁlA

AR M IR R MR

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14 BB ZIRFKREMMEKRTIE

2024 2023
—TNEF B =
US$’000 Us$'000
T=7x FE
Trade receivables from third parties FEWE =1 EZRM 34,053 34,105
Less: loss allowance ARG (477) (350)
Trade receivables — net FEUNE B BRI —F 58 33,576 33,755
Prepayment FEHRIA 6,122 9,256
VAT recoverable AT W [o] 1 (E 7 1,323 2,129
Other receivables Hihgwgsia 298 369
Amount due from a director EWR—ZEERIE 49 -
Amount due from an associate FEWx — R B & A B R IE
(Note 33 (d)) (P 5E33(d)) 6 14
Loan to an associate (Note (c) & 33(d)) #AFT—RHMEATZER
(M 5 () Ke33(d)) 122 120
7,920 11,888
Less: loss allowance A ORERE (273) (277)
7,647 11,611
41,223 45,366
Less: non-current portion A IEENER SR
— Prepayments for plant and equirment —ER=ZEEMIE (536) (1,527)
Current portion BN EA &R 53 40,687 43,839

BREZRRAZEEMHNFEICTRE
30E90R KA EEATMETERREHRK
REEH MEZRKEEFEZRELE

The credit terms of trade receivables range from cash on
delivery to 30-90 days. The Group may grant a longer credit
period to certain customers, subject to the satisfactory results

of credit assessment. The ageing of the trade receivables based R-BHWEZRNREZHRZREN
on invoice date is as follows: T

2024 2023
ZE@EF ZEI=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FET FE7
0-30 days 0&E30X 32,918 31,949
31-90 days 31E90XK 520 793
91-180 days 91&E180K 163 706
181-365 days 181&E365K = 326
Over 365 days 365K £ 452 331
34,053 34,105
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R M B RRIEE

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

14

P& Wi 5 5 Pl ok e EL fth FE U 7k 18 (48)

FEUS B 5 BR 70 e HL At FE W R TE 2 AR TE B
BT EREE !

2024 2023
—EHE —_E_=F
UsS$'000 Us$'000
FE7T FErx
Vietnam Dong e A 14,011 17,960
us$ E7T 21,894 20,228
Renminbi AR 5,117 7,116
Others Hith 201 62
41,223 45,366

(a) Classification as trade receivables (a) DEAERKREZIRMR

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. They are generally due for settlement
within 30-90 days and therefore all classified as current.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional, unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Details
about the Group’s impairment policies and the calculation
of the loss allowance are provided in note 3.1(b)(ii).

BB ZEMBEIEEEBIUE
EEmAMREHNBRFEMEKE
FHRIE - Y E ZERRBEN30
EOORNGEHE FEE2MWOER/R
H-RUEZRTBEEFROAES
BETVRED RIEHEEEX
MEMD WRATFERR &
EFARWEZRANETRIREH
RERE ALBEERABERMX
FERBHER AT EBRKRERRN -
BERAEERERRKRGRERN
SHE G RRF IR FES. 1(b)(i)
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AR MBS RRIEE

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

(c)

14 BEWESRMKRHEMEWKRE (@

Impairment and risk exposure (b) EEKRMEKO
The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December ACE_ZER_E_ME+_A
2023 and 2024 is the carrying amounts of trade and =t+—HERZEXREERREA L
other receivables mentioned above. The Group does not MW E Z IR R E MW RIEZ
hold any collateral as security. IREE - A EE T B H AR
mm EHE 8 o
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to TEERRAEEMBREENEI
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime A A ERREEEE &
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. FrERWE ZRNIKAZBTEIRE
EEEo
The closing loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 ACE_ME+_BA=+—H0ZFFE
December 2024 reconciles to the opening loss allowance WEZIRFRZ EREIBEEREL
as follows: BIEREZHROT
2024 2023
ZEIME ==
Us$’000 Us$'000
F%E7T FET
Opening loss allowance R—B—HZEF4k18
as at 1 January & 350 389
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance  RERLGZESWERP
recognised in consolidated income HRZEEEE RN
statement during the year CRiZL) 127 (39)
Closing loss allowance K+ZB=+—H2
as at 31 December FREGERE 477 350
The provision for credit loss of receivables has been MEKRRBEEHEEFLHNEEE
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated FAAGERERNITEHAZF R
income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance BERNBNESE—RINTEREE
account are generally written off when there is no I [B] 8 2 3R & BRr i 24 o
expectation of recovering additional cash.
As at 31 December 2024, the impairment provision for A—E_NNE+-_HA=+—H" &
prepayments and other receivables of US$273,000 (2023: TRIEREME R Z B EEE
US$277,000) is determined based on the 12-month 273,000 T (ZE - =41:277,000
expected credit losses. ZEm) HRIE12@E A 2 FEHA(E A8
KMEE -
Loan to an associate () HBF—HEBEATDZEM

As at 31 December 2024, the loan to an associate of
US$122,000 (2023: US$120,000) which is unsecured,
bears interest at 7.6% (2023: 4.5%), per annum,
denominated in US$ and repayable with 3 day-notice or 3
years since the loan draw down date.
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R M B RRIEE

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, STRUCTURED 15 RERRAESLEY EEURITER
BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED DEPOSITS AND B RRERITIE TR
SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

2024 2023

“ETHE EC=F

US$'000 US$'000

F=7 FE=

Structured bank deposits (note (a)) EBMIRITER (@) - 990

Short-term bank deposits (note (b)) fEHRIRTTIERR (M5E(b)) 16,535 19,693

Restricted deposits (note (c)) SZIREIFER (izE() 2,509 2

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFBERE 47,473 29,676

66,517 50,359

As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank of US$47,382,000
(2023: US$29,560,000), restricted deposits of US$2,509,000
(2023: Nil) and bank deposits of US$16,535,000 (2023:
US$20,683,000) were exposed to credit risk.

The remittance of the funds out of the PRC bank accounts
of US$10,842,000 (2023: US$4,426,000) and Vietnam bank
accounts of US$44,608,000 (2023: US$43,455,000) is subject
to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC and Vietnamese
governments, respectively.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted deposits,
structured bank deposits and short-term bank deposits are
denominated in the following currencies:

R_ZEZE_WmME+_HB=+—8"4F
71 £47,382,000€¥ 7w (ZEBE-=
£ :29,560,000E7T) “ZREER
2,509,000E 7T (ZE-=4F : &) KR
T1F316,535,000 T (ZE_=F:
20,683,000% 7T) EEE(EEE R

BE A ESRITERA 2 BE$10,842,000%E T
(ZEBZ=4:4,426,000&7T) KEH#
HIRTTIRE 2 & $£44,608,000& 7T (ZF
=4 ! 43,455,000 7T) EH BB

B R itk 7 AT B 90 BB R HE B o

AEEZRERRSSEN BRAE
o SRR T R A IRAT TR R L
TFEHE

2024 2023

uUss$’000 Us$'000

FEx FE

Vietnam Dong W E 28,993 27,860
us$ =T 24,411 16,857
Renminbi AR 10,842 4,438
Hong Kong dollar BT 105 78
New Taiwan dollar mAatk 1,009 412
Others Hith 1,157 714
66,517 50,359
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AR MBS RRIEE

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, STRUCTURED 15 RERFEEEY SHEMERTER

BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED DEPOSITS AND RFGHAIRITERR ()

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes: MIsE -

(a) Structured bank deposits (a) HEMBITER
As at 31 December 2023, the structured bank deposits RIE_ZF+ZB=+—8 &#E%
amounting to US$990,000 represented wealth management $R1TFFR990,000E T4 HE — KA
products issued by a reputable bank in PRC with variable RITHTNEMER BERERARR
interest and repayable on demand. Changes in fair value of P ESEEREREBE ZERENR
these investments were recognised in “other gains — net” in the :FfE“;écgJﬁ“‘v?ﬁHﬂZmi%EEEu*—i& FH g
consolidated income statement. The effective interest rate of —FEE CRBRTERRIZEI=
short-term bank deposit was 2.00% as at 31 December 2023. +_H =+—HBNERFIEZ2.00%

(b)  The effective interest rate of short-term bank deposits was 5.39% (b) RHRTEIVNBE_Z_WNE+=
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 6.77%). B=+—BLEEZERMNEAE539%

(ZBZ=F:1677%) °

(c) As at 31 December 2024, restricted deposits of US$2,509,000 () MIZE_NFE+-HA=+—H 2R
(2023: Nil) were restricted deposits held at bank as securities F#2,509,000% T (Z2EZ=F 1 8) 5
for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary in Vietnam. The RIRITTIR B ZRREE BERE—
restricted deposits will mature from January 2025 to March 2025, BEREENNERARERZIRITRE -
and are denominated in US$. RREGFRAER_ZEZHEF—ARAEZZ

CREZANE UETHME.
16 SHARE CAPITAL 16 KR

Authorised ordinary shares

EEEBK
Par value Number
Us$ of shares Us$'000
EEET Rir& 8 FERT
At 1 January 2023, A ZE=F—HF—Hk
31 December 2023, “E_=f+”"HA=+—8"
1 January 2024 and “Z_mE-A—HK
31 December 2024 ZEME+ZA=+—H 0.01  10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares
EETRHCEER
Par value Number
us$ of shares Us$'000
EEXET K& 8 FEx
At 1 January 2023, A ZE=F—HF—Hk
31 December 2023, —E_=%+”"“R=+—8"
1 January 2024 and “Z_mE-A—HAK
31 December 2024 ZEME+ZA=+—H 0.01 1,522,742,000 15,228
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R M B RRIEE

17 RESERVES 17 #E

Share  Exchange Merger ~ Statutory  Retained

Premium Reserve Reserve Reserve Earnings Total
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
RIVEE ERLRE  AHEE EERE REER At

(fsE@) (D)
US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

At 1 January 2023 W_E-__F#—H—H 47,358 7,334 79,994 901 140,673 276,260
Comprehensive income Z2ERA
Profit for the year FEERF - - - - 6,986 6,986
Other comprehensive income EftZ2HEIKA
Currency translation differences ERZE - (429) - - - (429)
Total comprehensive income  2EKAHE - (429) - - 6,986 6,557
Total transactions with HBEBEAZERRE
owners

Dividends paid (Note 25) BRRE (ME25) - - - - (3,487) (3,487)
At 31 December 2023 RIE_=&

+-A=+—H 47,358 6,905 79,994 901 144,172 279,330
At 1 January 2024 RZIZ-_mE—F—H 47,358 6,905 79,994 901 144,172 279,330
Comprehensive income ZEKA
Profit for the year FER A - - - - 16,046 16,046
Other comprehensive income  Et2EKA
Currency translation differences ERZF - (753) - - - (753)
Total comprehensive income  Z2EIKRA L - (753) - - 16,046 15,293
Total transactions with BHEEAZHERRE

owners

Reallocation of statutory reserve  BH A EATE - - - 72 (72) -
Dividends paid (Note 25) BRRE (EE25) - - - - (7,665) (7,665)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME

+ZB=+-H 47,358 6,152 79,994 973 152,481 286,958

Annual Report 2024 3% 175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2&! A
17 o = |

FAFS R R M5E

17 RESERVES (continued)

18

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation completed on 26 December 2002 and the nominal
value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefor.

Statutory reserve

The PRC companies are required to allocate 10% of the
companies’ net profits to the statutory reserve fund until such
fund reaches 50% of the companies’ registered capital. The
statutory reserve fund can be utilised, upon approval by the
relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to increase
registered capital of the companies, provided that such fund is
maintained at a minimum of 25% of the companies’ registered
capital.

17

#fh (&

MiEE -

(a)

(b)

A
FEBNGHEREBEREN 2T =&
T2 A=+ ARHEMNEREMRMRIRE
MEABNRAEERKRDEERELR
BMETRBMMETZRABENE
2Fo

A
FEABAERARFANZI0%EZETE
AR BEEARTERRAFEMELX
250% - EEHARABA L A EATEE
AIFEALURI RSB ENE N AR E
MEL ARAAMAREAERIA
BlEMERRD25%

TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 18 EEZRM B ERAREMERS
PAYABLES ™M
2024 2023
—EME TEI=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FET
Trade payables FE 1 8 5 BR X 11,254 18,391
Accruals fEst &R 9,674 8,077
Payable of purchase of property, plant and FEftEEYE BERK
equipment and construction costs REURBER RIS 369 326
Contract liabilities (Note (a)) axaE (M) 5,561 4,579
Other payables HhEARIE 6,290 5,283
Total trade payables, accruals and other FETE SR FEstE A
payables REMAEIRIE42%E 33,148 36,656
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R M B RRIEE

18 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 18
PAYABLES (continued)

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30
days of recognition.

At 31 December 2024, the ageing of trade payables based on
invoice date is as follows:

FE{3 8 5 iRk~ FESt B A R EfthFE (S

A (&)

BNEZERARIKE BENEIR

30HAZ e

RIF_ME+ZA=+—H - BHES
IRMIRERAMZIREWT ¢

2024 2023

—EmE —E=HF

US$’000 US$'000

F=ET FErx

0-30 days 0FE30K 9,795 17,734
31-90 days 31E90K 1,459 657
11,254 18,391

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals
and other payables are denominated in the following

FEBZEAEZRDR B EAKEM
EAREZREEZ TIEEE:

currencies:

2024 2023
—EMNE —EZ=HF
US$'000 US$'000
F=E7x FE=r
Vietnam Dong W E 14,114 23,026
us$ ETT 10,985 5,379
Renminbi AR 6,947 6,793
Others Hith 1,102 1,458
33,148 36,656

Notes: Pf$5E -

(a) Contract liabilities
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments
received in advance for sales of goods not yet delivered to
customers. Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered to
customers.

() BHafE

AHERTFERARTATERZEME
ExAKZEEHTRERM - Wl Em
T F &P EHER
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AR MBS RRIEE

19 BANK BORROWINGS 19 $RITEHE
2024 2023
—EME —EZ=HFE
us$°000 Us$’000
TF=5T FET
Non-current JEBNHA
- Long-term bank borrowings —RHERITEE
- secured —HiKR 1,992 3,431
Less: current portion of long-term bank B RERITEE
borrowings IR ) (1,328) (1,439)
664 1,992
Current BN A
- Short-term bank borrowings — AR ITEE
- secured —HiKR 23,327 38,271
— Short-term bank borrowings —iHERIRITEE
— unsecured —E A - 1,952
- Current portion of long-term bank —RHRITEBEZ
borrowings- secured BHAER 7 — B KR 1,328 1,439
24,655 41,662
Total bank borrowings IRITEE4EEE 25,319 43,654
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R M B RRIEE

19 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 19 $RITREE (@
At 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings were RIE_NE+_B=+—8 &~&EBZ
repayable as follows: IRTTREEBRUTHEEE !

2024 2023

ZEME ZEI=HF

Uss$’000 UsS$'000

FE7 FE7

Within 1 year —FRN 24,655 41,662

Between 1 and 2 years —FEEMF 664 1,328

Between 2 and 5 years MEERE - 664

25,319 43,654

RERSF AR L SFEY MR R

The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest rate

changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of the BREHEMIIEEHOT
reporting period are as follows:
2024 2023
ZEIME —EZ=

uss$’000 Us$'000
FET FET
Within 6 months SENER 23,991 40,998
Between 7 and 12 months TE12{E8 664 664
Between 1 and 5 years 1858 664 1,992
25,319 43,654

The effective interest rates per annum of the Group's

RBERR *EEBEZEREN RN

borrowings at the end of the reporting period were as follows: T
2024 2023
—FME —ET=F
uss x7T 5.8% 5.2%
New Taiwan dollar E= Not applicable
B 2.4%
Vietnamese Dong WA 3.2% 3.3%
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AR MBS RRIEE

Iz

19

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate
their fair values and are denominated in the following
currencies:

19

RITEE (8)
FEEGEZREEEZEAFEES I
BLFERE !

2024 2023
—EME —E=F
Us$’000 US$'000
F=7T FET
uss ES 1,992 9,997
New Taiwan dollar Eil=ka - 1,952
Vietnamese Dong HEE 23,327 31,705
25,319 43,654
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: TEBBEUTKIRAEERE .
2024 2023
—E_ME —F=
Us$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FEmT
Floating rate: FE
— Expiring within one year —R—F R 140,786 104,472
— Expiring beyond one year —R—F% I 31,308 5,568
Fixed rate: TE
— Expiring within one year —R—FE R - 30,596
172,094 140,636

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has aggregate
bank facilities of approximately US$197,413,000 (2023:
US$184,290,000) for bank borrowings, trade finance and other
general banking facilities. Unutilised amount as at 31 December
2024 amounted to US$172,094,000 (2023: US$140,636,000),
among them, US$122,069,000 (2023: US$94,620,000) of the
unutilised bank facilities were secured by corporate guarantees
issued by the Company.

The Group complied with the financial covenants of its bank
loans during both periods presented, see note 3.2 for details.
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RIEZMOE+ZRA=+—H £x&EH
EHERIBITMESH4197,413,000%E
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£ 1 140,636,000%7t) » HAR > KENAR
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4= A H

AR MR M

20

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 20 EIEFRIFH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary RIEFFEMIDBHBEEEEIUNERZE
differences under the liability method using the principal tax FMEERERN T ERINMBEYEREE
rates prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates. REFTE
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is EREEAEUHITHENDBGINBEREE Z4
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and BEIEH > BIRERBEERY RE—RH
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the MR BlR IEIEIRIEE AR a8 EE
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are RiH - BERB AT 0 TN IR K
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset BREPREEGHESRRNEREERGE
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the aER MPAREEERRESEDREIE
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The offset amounts fHo IR REW T ¢
are as follows:
2024 2023
ZEIME —EI=HF
uUs$’000 Us$'000
FE=T FET
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEPRGIRE (1,342) (2,803)
Deferred income tax assets RIEFRSIREE 2,307 2,653
Deferred income tax asset/(liabilities) REFRBREE (AR 965 (150)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

KEERLEFRSNEERBE Rt KRR
HAERBR B EEENER) NEHM
T

RIEFSRER

Accelerated tax depreciation

MR IEITE
2024 2023
—EHE —_EFE=
US$'000 Us$'000
F=x FE=
At 1 January »—B—H (2,803) (3,215)
Credited to consolidated income statement st A4E & WEER 1,461 412
At 31 December B+-_HA=+—H (1,342) (2,803)
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2&! A
17 o = |

FAFS R R M5E

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 20 RIEFREH (@
Deferred income tax assets RIEFRGIREE
Other temporary
Deferred expenses differences Total
BERZ HthERER ksl
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoEE ZEZZE —ECME ZEZZE ZENE —EZZE
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TER FEn FET FET TE£R TR
At 1 January ®—E—H 1,177 1,262 1,476 1,376 2,653 2,638
Charged/(credited) to consolidated M/ GtA) REBER
profit or loss 140 (85) (486) 100 (346) 15
At 31 December W+ZB=+-8H 1,317 1177 990 1,476 2,307 2,653
Notes: MIsE -
(i) According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, the profits (i) RBETECERSRLE KERETH

(i)

of PRC subsidiaries of the Group derived since 1 January 2008
will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10% upon the
distribution of such profits to foreign investors. Deferred income
tax liabilities of US$937,000 (2023: US$862,000) have not been
recognised in respect of temporary differences attributable to
accumulated profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries as the Group
controls the dividend policy of these PRC subsidiaries and it is
probable that these temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The unremitted earnings of PRC subsidiaries
are intended to reinvest to expand PRC markets.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31
December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets
of US$1,048,000 (2023: US$799,000) in respect of tax losses of
approximately US$6,317,000 (2023: US$4,614,000) which can
be carried forward against future taxable income. The tax losses
amounted to approximately US$6,243,000 (2023: US$4,161,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely and approximately US$74,000
(2023: US$453,000) will be expired by 2028 (2023: will be
expired by 2027).
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EftEARR NE—R—HEEE
EREMN AMDIKTFIEREENE
FE10%MTGMTAINKR - A&
EZEHZETEMNBARZREBEER
BAE@RZ PEWE QSR EFEG
ZEREREAATEN R RER
O IR L S R SRR SRR E PR S AR
818937,000% 7T (ZF 2 =4 :862,000
E70) cFEE AR KRELNERA HE
EBRREMIRRFE TS

RERBEEDNEAEBRBEANETE
BARKESMEMNERMMREE RN
HEEFUBR - R_E_MNE+H
=+—B > FAEELKRA6,317,000%
T (ZEBZ=%:4,614,000%7) 28
THE B IR IERIEE A& 1,048,000E T
= 1 799,000%E7T) > Al 45 EE
BRREFERBARE - RIBEEOS
6,243,000 7T (ZT =% : 4,161,000
£T) > ATEPR AL B > M4974,000% 7T

= _=
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R M B RRIEE

21 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET 21 Hftigas ~ (8518) — 288

2024 2023

—EIMmE —E=F

Us$'000 Us$’000

F=ET F=T

Net exchange gain/(loss) LW (B518) /$48 1,152 (263)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEKREZEZEIE

plant and equipment (36) (98)

Sales of scrap materials BE k85 & 374 389

Government grant B3 75 B 15 9
Fair value gains on structural ERERTERZATEKTE

bank deposits = 4

Impairment of goodwill (Note 8) mERE (HsE8) (491) (680)

Others Hith 471 517

1,485 (122)
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AR MBS RRIEE

22 EXPENSES BY NATURE 22 BMESEZAX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution HEMRA HERDHBEZ RITEREZMR
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as follows: BiEZHZSHAOT
2024 2023
—FENEF —EI=F
Us$’000 Us$’'000
F=7T FET
Changes in inventories and FEERBREERESR

consumables used (Note 13) (MFE13) 254,591 278,617
Amortisation of intangible assets mLEEBE (W)

(Note 8) 70 71
Amortisation of right-of-use assets EREEEE (izt7)

(Note 7) 581 553
Auditor’s remuneration 12 B4 B %7 B
— Audit services —ZE R 360 345
— Non-audit services —JEZBBRTS 45 5
Depreciation on property, plant and M- BERRBETE (o)

equipment (Note 6) 22,058 21,290
Written off of property, plant and M BB R s% E EE (MIske)

equipment (Note 6) 154 277
Provision for impairment of inventories fF&EREZ#%E (f:E13)

(Note 13) 57 641
Expense relating to short-term lease BIRHATRE AR (MW7)

(Note 7) 190 87
Employee benefit expenses (Note 27)  BERBFFIX (izF27) 43,062 40,844
Provision for/(reversal of) loss allowance FEURE BIRFUEGIBEEZ

of trade receivables (Note 14) B (ERE) (MEt14) 127 (39)
Technical support fee (Note 33(b)) iz EE (MisE33(0)) 2,199 2,184
Travelling expenses EREAX 1,531 1,629
Transportation expenses RiBRHE 7,876 6,645
Advertising expenses EER% 2,292 1,718
Repair and maintenance expenses HEMRERS 14,414 10,751
Other expenses HpEx 9,141 7,452
Total cost of sales, selling and HERA  HERDHERAZ

distribution expenses and AT B 48 %8

administrative expenses 358,748 373,070
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23

24

FINANCE COSTS - NET 23 MBHE—FE

2024 2023

—EME —EC=HF

Us$'000 Us$’000

T=5T FET

Bank interest income IRITFI 2 U A 1,073 1,084

Interest income from an associate RKE—HEEBERTZHEWA 8 5

Finance income R TN 1,081 1,089

Interest expense on bank borrowings IRITEEFEME (1,449) (2,831)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNEMAZ (ME7)

(Note 7) (88) (98)
Less: amounts capitalised on B AEREEBENERIE

qualifying assets (Note 6) (Fiz¥6) - 49

Finance costs B (1.537) (2,880)

Finance costs — net B —F5 (456) (1,791)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

24

Taxation on profits has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated income

statement represents:

FRriRIAX

HHZRERER G ERR ST ZE
EREEMERRZRTRESH-

RiFEWmRANRZ SRS

2024 2023

ZETNE =g 2

Us$'000 Us$'000

FEx FE

Enterprise income tax (“EIT") BEMER 6,518 3,782
Under/(over) provision of income BEFEMSREBERR

tax in previous years (HBEaEHE) 59 9)

Total current tax BUERTR B4 %E 6,577 3,773

Deferred income tax (Note 20) IRIEFRSHR (Md5E20) (1,115) (427)

5,462 3,346
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AR MBS RRIEE

24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 24 FREMAX (B)
The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax NEBGAERAENNFREREMS
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using RAAEEFTENBRARNHEEKRANE
the applicable tax rate for Vietnam Vedan, which is a major RREMAENERRHAR > &30
subsidiary of the Group, as follows: T
2024 2023
—EME —E=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax FRPRIS I ATEF] 21,533 10,347
Tax calculated at tax rate of 15% BI5% 2 MERHEZRIE
(2023: 15%) ZEBEZ=F115%) 3,230 1,552
Tax effects of different tax rates TRMEZRBTE 721 195
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ENCIE L5 1,377 1,340
Income not subject to tax BEZRHRUA (327) (19)
Tax effects of share of loss from associates EEHE AT REELE
and joint ventures, net of tax BIENRBETE
RN IE 153 138
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BRABAREIENRE
tax losses 518 (94) -
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEEERERRE
(EBEEE ) 59 9)
Unrecognised tax losses REERMBEIE 343 149
Income tax expenses FriSiRR 5,462 3,346
Pillar Two legislation was effective since 1 January 2024 YHZUZERZIZZNE—A—Bit
in Vietnam, the jurisdiction in which one of the Group’s Rt (REENBE AR 2 — M i
subsidiaries incorporated. As the Group’s total revenue is less EEEAHRE) EF UFR T ZNFE—
than EUR 750 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 A—BEER BERFAERBEE_—Z WM
and all entities within the Group have an effective tax rate that F+ZA=1+—HBLEFENKRZBER
exceeds 15%, the Group has no related current or deferred tax R750E BBt BAEBNMEERERN
exposure under OECD Pillar Two model rules. BEMEEBIAE15%  FIL - RIEOECD
THHZRERA AREE T EAEARB A
IRFERR 18 B B o
EIT is provided on the basis of the statutory profit for financial TEMENEMBRRNETEEN S
reporting purposes, adjusted for income and expenses items B ARFAEMNBERRAATNRM
which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes. KWEZIEEEHAE -
(i) Vietnam (i) #mE
The applicable EIT rate for the Group's principal BB AN ES BT
operations in Vietnam is 15%, which is an incentive tax FEBRTHENIZEEBNERE
rate offered by the Vietnam Government and is stipulated EFREMEB15% ARKREAM
in the subsidiary’s investment license. For non-principal MERMATHNEERE HRWE
operation in Vietnam, the applicable EIT rate for the MIEFTEEBMS  ~EBNER
Group is 20%. EMBIRER20%
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,ﬁ -,
FEMBERERME
24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 24 FRFMEAE (&)
(ii) The PRC (i) =HE
The applicable EIT rate for the Group’s operation in the AEBMEPENEZNBEBEEMR
PRC is 25%. BIRER25%
(ili) Singapore/Hong Kong/Cambodia (i) FrONEE BB RIHE
No Singapore/Hong Kong/Cambodia profits tax has been RN AEERAKEE L ETHM
provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profit W BB RRIEERNSESEE
arising in or derived from Singapore, Hong Kong and FESR MR A > (A Ih 3 48 1 W F 0 3R
Cambodia during the year. S ER RIFRFGHREE
(iv) Taiwan (iv) &
The applicable EIT rate for the Group’s operations in AEEETRENEBNBERELER
Taiwan is 20%. BRER20%-
25 DIVIDENDS 25 B2
A final dividend of 0.2298 US cents per share amounting to AMBE_ZE_=ZF+"A=+—HL
US$3,499,000 that relates to the year ended 31 December FEFRK0.2298E L& EE#43,499,0005
2023 was declared on 19 March 2024 and was paid on 11 June TZARAREER ZZEZWNE=A+Ah
2024. BERERR_-EZNEARE+—HIKf -
For the year ended 31 December 2024, an interim dividend of BEE_Z_WNE+_-_BA=+—HILHE
0.273 US cents (2023: 0.229 US cents) per share amounting E>&8RKR0273FEM (ZT =% 0.229
to US$4,166,000 (2023: US$3,487,000) was declared and ZE1l) £%%4,166,000% 7w (ZBEZ=
paid in 2024. A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 £ 13,487,000%7T) 2HEHKREERZ
December 2024 of 0.570 US cents per share, amounting to a T TMNEEIREIRT o 15 FEfE B BRIE
final dividend of US$8,680,000, is to be proposed for approval AELREUNEMENEEZZSME
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. These consolidated +ZA=+—HBHLEFEENKEREAS
financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable. f%0.570% 1l > REAR S & 5R%£8,680,000
ET o ZEREUBBRRILBRRZEN
B o
2024 2023
T mE —EI=HF
Uss$’000 Us$’'000
FE7T FERT
Interim dividend paid of 0.273 US BT HRESREER
cents (2023: 0.229 US cents) per 0273 (Z&B ==
ordinary share 0.229%A) 4,166 3,487
Proposed final dividend of 0.570 US BIKRIERESRZER
cents (2023: 0.2298 US cents) per 0.570%1 (Z&E ==
ordinary share 0.2298%Al) 8,680 3,499
12,846 6,986
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26

27

EARNINGS PER SHARE 26 SkREF

(a) Basic (a) E=
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the ERERBFEAQEEE AEWSG
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the wHARUFEABETEERME
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue THHEE-

during the year.

2024 2023
T ME ZEI=F
Profit attributable to owners NREER ANFEGET
of the Company (US$000) (F=7T) 16,046 6,986
Weighted average number of BEITEERAMETLSE
ordinary shares in issue (FA2)
(thousands) 1,522,742 1,522,742
Basic earnings per share BRERBRN &EREN)
(US cents per share) 1.05 0.46
(b) Diluted (b) #%
Diluted earnings per share is same as basic earnings per BE_ZSMOERZIZEZ=F+"
share as there are no dilutive instruments for the years B=+—HULEFE HRILE#HE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. TR HERGERINEERERX
BAAEE -
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 27 REEMAX (BIEEFHH)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2024 2023
ZEIME —E=F
Us$°000 Us$’000
F%ET FERT
Wages, basic salaries and allowances TE - EF &2 31,624 30,726
Bonus 1E4L 5,031 3,421
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk 7
—ERRMHMRETE 4,097 3,981
Other employee benefits Hite 8 & 2,310 2,716
43,062 40,844
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited BE_Z_M&+__A=+—HLHF
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its B 7 & B 4 4 B B 4R R W R (R SR LURE D
contributions for the current year (2023: Nil). NEENHER (CEZ=F .8 -
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28 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 28 EBHRENEIE

As stipulated by the labour laws in Vietnam, the Group
operates defined benefit pension plans for its employees in
Vietnam employed on or before 31 December 2008. The
provision is determined based on the employees’ years of
services as at 31 December 2008 and their average monthly

REESREEHEERE FEEASHERZ
TZNE+ZB=ZT+—HIUAERAN
BrEERMUEBREMNEREHE -&F
BREUEER-_FTNF+RA=1T—
BZRFFHRRERE BBRINER

salary for the six-month period prior to the last service day. AR T A R1EE -

2024 2023
ZEIME ZECI=HF
Uss$’000 Us$'000
FE7T FET
As at 1 January w—B—H 1,484 1,526
Current service cost BVERAR 75 B =2 90 67
Payments N (100) (109)
As at 31 December R+ZBA=+—H 1,474 1,484

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FiEAMNEZERHERIZNOT
2024 2023
Discount rate IR 9% 9%
Salary growth rate FrEEXR 4.5% - 6.9% 45% - 6.9%
Expected years of service remaining TEHA T BRAR 75 F PR 11 - 13 years 12 - 14 years

Pursuant to the Law on Social Insurance in Vietnam effective
from 1 January 2009, the Group is required to contribute to
a state-sponsored employees’ social insurance scheme for its
employees in Vietnam. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due.

REH_ETNF-B—HEENZH
EHEREE AERAARHEUERES
MERXREEZEESLEREEEFHH
MoMZMMRE  AEEBEEMAIN
BE-HRN IS ARHEISESRT
fix o

Annual Report 2024 3% 189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 29 ESENRER (FEAEGEM (B
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF 622%) $3831F - AF) (HBEEEH
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE mER) R (8622GE) REAL
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF HRAAE 2K E)
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)

REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES)
(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EEESHRITHAEZME
The remuneration of every director and the chief BEERBRITBAE Z BT
executive is set out below: mE:
For the year ended 31 December 2024: BE-_F-MOE+ZA=+—HL
FE:
Other emoluments
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's  of the affairs of
Allowances and contribution the Company
Salary Discretionary ~ benefits in kind ~ to a retirement  or its subsidiary
Fees (Note a) bonuses (Noteb)  benefit scheme undertakings Total
ERESH
ERARAG
EWEASEH
BER FRENERE
i ERRENER BFEFHE BEXfAREKZ
Name of Director iz e (H3ta) BB (Hiztb) e Rt At
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FER FER F£7 FER FER F£7 F£7
Executive Director BiTES
Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung BEELE - 343 536 17 - - 896
Mr. Yang, Cheng RERSE - - - 16 - - 16
Mr. Yang, Kun-Hsiang (Note ¢)  #¥#%e4 (Hizkc) - 382 519 17 - - 918
Mr. Yang, Chen-Wen BRXEE - 218 375 17 - - 610
M. Yang, Kun-Chou B EE - 181 375 17 - - 573
Non-executive Director FRTES
Mr. Chou, Szu-Cheng BRRLE - - - 16 - - 16
Mr. Huang, Ching-Jung BRREE - - - 16 - - 16
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
Director
Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong HEREE 1 - - 16 - - 17
Mr. Chen, Joen-Ray RBEEL 1 - - 16 - - 17
Mr. Ko, Jim-Chen AsEEE 2 - - 16 - - 18
Mr. Huang Chung Fong RESEYE 1 - - 16 - - 17
Ms. Lee Peir-Fen (Note d) FEFLT (M) - - - - - - -
Total st 5 1,124 1,805 180 - - 3,114
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e M B HRRMEE

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 29 ESEMRER (FBAEGEM (B
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF 622%) $3831% - AF (HBEEH
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE mER) R (55622GE) RE#E L
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF TRAREZIRE) (&)
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)

REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)
(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EERSHRITHAEZME B)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023: BE_Z=F+"“A=+—H1t
R
Other emoluments
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
Allowances Employer's  of the affairs of
and benefits contribution the Company
Salary Discretionary in kind to a retirement or its subsidiary
Fees (Note a) bonuses (Note b) benefit scheme undertakings Total
ERESH
EEAATY
HRBARSHA
RN MR
FiE3 RUREMEN BIORGET SEINARKZ
Name of Director iz ik (i3ta) BT (Hizb) BIFRfEfER Hitil At
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Fin FEn FEn F£7 FEn F¥5x FEx
Executive Director BiTES
Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung BRERE 1 343 135 17 - - 496
Mr. Yang, Cheng RERE - - - 16 - - 16
Mr. Yang, Kun-Hsiang (Note ¢) ~ #53#%eE (H3kc) - 381 144 17 - - 542
Mr. Yang, Chen-Wen BRXEE - 218 95 17 - - 330
Mr. Yang, Kun-Chou Rk - 181 95 17 - - 293
Non-executive Director FRTES
Mr. Chou, Szu-Cheng BHELE - - - 16 - - 16
Mr. Huang, Ching-Jung BRERE 1 - - 16 - - 17
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHFTEE
Director
Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong HEREE 3 - - 16 - - 19
Mr. Chen, Joen-Ray RBHELE 2 - - 16 - - 18
Mr. Ko, Jim-Chen Jok3 bk 2 - - 16 - - 18
Mr. Huang Chung Fong RESEE 1 - - 16 - - 17
Total gt 10 1123 469 180 - - 1,782
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AR MBS RRIEE

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(A)

29 ERGEMRER (FREQEEH (B
6225) $3831% A8 HEESRF
mEH) AP (55622GE) REE L

HRAUREZIKE) (B)

(A) EFRERITBRABZME (B

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments
(continued)

Aggregate other emoluments paid to
Aggregate emoluments paid to or
receivable by directors in respect of
their services as directors, whether of

or receivable by directors in respect of
their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of

the Company or its subsidiary undertakings the Company or its subsidiary undertakings Total Total
EEREREE RS EMESHERSATY
(FRATADREMBATZES) HBARDEHFAIRMAN
BEL ARG A HitREEEL Rl LB 288 st st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEZME ZFZ= ZEME ZEIZE ZEIME ZEIZE
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$’000 Us$'000
S FET S FET S FET
185 190 2,929 1,592 3,114 1,782
Notes: P 5E
(a)  Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid (@) XZNF—REZFNH=BEBAM
or receivable in respect of that person’s other services in ZATIRHEEBEERATREMN
connection with the management of the affairs of the BATSEH BN EMREmE
Company or its subsidiary undertakings. 2 AT E AV EM <& o
(b)  Allowances and benefits in kind represent the directors’ by REUEREVEIIEESEHNGZEZE
meeting attendance allowance. Bl o
() Mr. Yang, Kun-Hsiang is also the CEO of the Company () tEBMERERELRAGITHELE
and therefore, no separate disclosure in respect of the o (A1 6 AR L 1T B AR K AY H AN
remuneration of the CEO has been made. ETORKE
(d)  Ms. Lee Peir-Fen was appointed as an independent non- () FBHFz+TEZZTHEF+AH

executive director of the Company with effect from 24
December 2024.
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R M B RRIEE

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 29
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(B) Directors’ retirement benefits
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no other
retirement benefits were paid to directors in respect of
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking
(2023: same).

(C) Directors’ termination benefits
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
termination benefits were paid to directors (2023: same).

(D) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
consideration was provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: same).

(E) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors
Save as disclosed in Note 14, during the year ended 31
December 2024, no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with directors (2023: same).

(F) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2023: same).

ESEMRED (FBATMRAE B
622%F) F383MF AT WEEEH
HEH) G ($622GE) RE#HL
HRAREZKE) (8)

(B) EFERKEF
BE_Z_NMFE+Z“A=+—H1t
EE O UEAETAHEEETELR
BT EM B RABNEEAIR R
B THMBAEN (ZTZ=
HEE) °

() EFZ&IEERN
BE_Z-_MOFE+ZA=+—H1t
FE UIEASFEFSZHLILEER (2
T=F AR -

(D) FRMHEZRRFMMAE=HIRMEHN
RE
HEZZMOF+ZHA=+—HL
FE O UEMBEEFERFTMEE
ZHREHEREB(CEZ=F ER) -

(E) ARUES -RZAFESEHNE
ANBERZEESNERETRES
BHANER EERREMRS
B
MR 1AFTIREEI BE_F
“HOFE+ZA=+—HLEFEE I
BUEBESE ZRFEFEFMEA
EREZEEENAMEERAR
HEAFHNER  EERREMR
% (CEZ=F 18R °

(F) BERIXZ RHFAEGHUPHEKR
s
FRMSEE33PRIREE SN MAEER
HEFEREMERL > £ARQE I HE
VR AEREFERMARTE
FEESBERERERERNER
BEXRG ZHREN (ZERZ=
F R -
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AR MBS RRIEE

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(G)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included four (2023: four)
executive directors; their emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to the
remaining one (2023: one) individual during the year is as
follows:

29 ERGEMRER (FREQEEH (B
6225) $3831% A8 HEESRF
mEH) AP (55622GE) REE L
HRAUREZIKE) (B)

(G)

AmEEMEAL

FEBFFENELERNEAL
BENG (CE2=F 1 mE) §iT
EF HEIM=ER EXZOR
PR RFERRBMFT—5 (2
BZF ) ALZEET

2024 2023
Us$°000 Us$’000
F%E7T FE
Wages, basic salaries and allowances L& - JE# &2 206 189
Bonus fe4T 55 55
261 244

The emoluments of the remaining individual fell within BRNALTZEERUATEHR :

the following band:

Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
ZEME —_E”=

191,000E T E
255,000% 7T
255,001 E
320,000% 7T

US$191,000 to US$255,000

US$255,001 to US$320,000
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4= A H

AR MR M

30

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 FaRERERME
CASH FLOWS
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EBELEZRS®
2024 2023
ZEIME =
Note Us$’000 Us$'000
M 5 F=7T FE7T
Profit before income tax FRPR S8 A& 21,533 10,347
Adjustments for: MU TIEERAZE
— Finance income — B FBULA 23 (1,081) (1,089)
— Finance costs —Hz 23 1,537 2,880
— Share of post-tax loss of — FE(E— R A
an assodiate AR EEE 1 864 841
- Shalrelof post-tax loss of —EE—R e
2 Joint venture MBS 10 68 -
— Provision for impairment — 5
of inventories FEREZHE 13 57 641
— Provision of impairment _=rsm X
of goodwill ERRERE 8 491 680
— Depreciation of W BER
property, plant and N -
equipment = i e 6 22,058 21,290
— Write-off of property, - BER
plant and equipment 1 1t o 6 154 277
— Provision/(reversal of) —FEI R 2R SR
for impairment loss of A
trade receivables BBz EE
(B E) 14 127 (39)
— Amortisation of — @A o
intangible assets T R 8 70 71
— Amortisation of right- — g5 2
of-use assets MR E R 7 581 553
— Loss on disposal of —HEME - BER
property, plant and N e
equipment SRR 21 36 98
— Realised fair value gain —EREMIRT T
on structured bank N -
deposits ZBEBREAT
B = )
— Unrealised fair value — MR
gain on structured N -
bank deposits ZREHAF
=& = )
46,495 36,546
Change in working capital SEESEH RitiRae
(excluding the effects of IREEECEREL
exchange differences on o))
consolidation)
- Inventories =8 10,752 2,206
— Trade receivables, —FEW B 5 R
prepayments and SEANE/OE
other receivables Hth FE R IE 3,019 8,934
— Trade payables, accruals —ENEZER®R
and other payables FEStE A&
HAth A& FRIE (3.581) (10,649)
— Net changes in —BBREARG
balances with related R EB)FRE
companies 498 (199)
Cash generated from EBEEZRSE
operations 57.183 36,838
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AR MBS RRIEE

30 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 &#A&

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

RERERHEE (@)

EBELEZRE (@
EREHRERERN HEME
P R E 2 PRIGRIARLE

2024 2023

ZEME —E=F

Us$’000 Us$'000

Fx=7T FE

Net book amount (Note 6) IREEE (I5E6) 73 290
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BER&RBZ

plant and equipment (Note 21) E5t8 (fsE21) (36) (98)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BERXBZ

plant and equipment FRiSFRIE 37 192

(b) Net asset/(debt) reconciliation (b) EBEE/ (EF) FEZHIE

This section sets out an analysis of net asset/(debt) and
the movements in net asset/(debt) for each of the years

FHHINRESREINEEZEE S
(&%) BEAINKREE (BH)

presented. BREEE
Net asset/(debt) BE/ (B%) F58
2024 2023
—EME s =
us$°000 Us$’000
F=5T FET
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEZEY 47,473 29,676
Bank borrowings — repayable within ~ fRITBE-NR—FREE
one year (24,655) (41,662)
Bank borrowings — repayable after IRITEE-N—FREER
one year (664) (1,992)
Lease liabilities — current portion THEasE-BEEES (506) (319)
Lease liabilities — non-current portion fAE&&E—JEENEAZE (2,698) (2,744)
Net asset/(debt) BE/ (B F5 18,950 (17,041)
Cash and cash equivalents REeRREZEY 47,473 29,676
Gross debt — fixed interest rates B HR%E— B EF = - (17,547)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BEEEE—ZEHAX (28,523) (29,170)
Net asset/(debt) BE (B 358 18,950 (17,041)
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R M B RRIEE

30 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

Net debt reconciliation (continued)

30

FARTRERWEE (@)

(b) EEZFHEZHIK (B

Liabilities from
financing activities

REMBEZHZEE
Bank Bank Lease Lease
borrowings borrowings liabilities liabilities
due within due after - current - non-current
1 year 1 year portion portion
R—EREE KR-FE3H8 HEaRE HEER
ZRITBE ZRITEE —BPERE S —FEENEIE S
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
=R FERT =R TEn
Net debt as at 1 January 2023 HZE-=F—H—H
AL b (56,190) (3,431) (443) (3,035)
Cash outflows REm 15,684 - 541 -
Non-cash flow movements: FREF=LE .
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMEZEE 283 - 1 -
Interest expense on lease HEAGENSMYE
liabilities - - (98) -
Other non-cash movement HitFREEH (1,439) 1,439 (320) 291
Net debt as at RZIEZ=
31 December 2023 and +ZB=+—-BR
1 January 2024 —Z_m&E-B—H
AL b (41,662) (1,992) (319) (2,744)
Cash outflows HEm 18,159 - 564 -
Non-cash flow movements: FREF=LE) .
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMEZEE 176 - 1 -
Interest expense on lease HEAGENSMZ
liabilities - - (88) -
Other non-cash movement HitFRE 2 (1,328) 1,328 (664) 46
Net debt as at RIE-_ME
31 December 2024 +ZBA=+—-Hz
E%E (24,655) (664) (506) (2,698)
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AR MBS RRIEE

31

32

33

COMMITMENTS 31 Kk
The Group’s capital expenditure contracted for at the end of REERKRESARETNEREEZE
the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows: AZHWMTF .
2024 2023
—EME —EBC=H
Us$'000 Us$'000
F=7T FET
Contracted but not provided for [ERIESEEES
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERSEE 431 760
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32 Eﬁ?ﬁﬁfﬁ
At 31 December 2024, the Company has given guarantees for A ZE_NE+ZA=+—HB AR F
bank facilities of subsidiaries amounting to US$152,800,000 A B AT A%152,800,000 7w (ZF
(2023: US$130,499,000), of which US$128,069,000 (2023: Z =% 1:130,499,000%E ) ZIRITHEIR
US$94,620,000) has not been utilised. IR > HH128,069,000% 7w (ZTZ=
£F 1 94,620,000%7T) AR ENF ©
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 FREALRS

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is the Yang Family,
whose members are Messrs. Yang, Tou-Hsiung, Yang, Cheng,
Yang, Yung-Huang, Yang, Kun-Hsiang, Yang, Kun-Chou, Yang,
Yung-Jen, Yang, Chen-Wen, Yang, Wen-Hu, Yang, Tung, Ms.
Yang, Wen-Yin, Ms. Yang, Shu-Hui and Ms. Yang, Shu-Mei.

(@) The table below summarises the related parties and
nature of their relationship with the Group as at 31

December 2024:

Related party

rEBREKERSTABERRE AREE
BGEESLE - BEXE HKIERE
HBEESE BN EE  BRERE
BRXEE - BXBEE - BRITEH
XS HRERL T RGRIEL L

(a) THEBRAR_F_MEL+A
Zt+—BZAFHBEATRERELE
EHRFRILEE -

Relationship with the Group

BRAEAL B EE 7 R A
Vedan Enterprise Corporation (“Taiwan Vedan") A substantial shareholder of the Company
R RERMERRE (TEEKM) TABNEERE

Vedan Biotechnology Corporation (“Vedan Bio")
TR EMRIRRHBERAS (MRAEMRIR)
Dacin International Holdings Ltd.
EMBERERERAT

Capron Group Limited

7 £ [E A9 B

A company commonly controlled by the Yang Family

A company commonly controlled by the Yang Family
—fHEERREEEERNZAF
An associate of the Group

HE AT

—ERERREXRERZ AT
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R M B RRIEE

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33 EREALRZS (B)

(b) Significant related party transactions, which were carried (b) TAEBEHEEFEREDETHE
out in the normal course of the Group’s business, are as AEREALTRZOTF :
follows:
2024 2023
—EME —EC=F
Note Us$‘000 UsS$'000
B =% FE=7x FE=x
Sale of goods to Taiwan Vedan AeEKAHEHESR (i) 3,561 2,697
Sale of goods to Vedan Bio Ak EY R E
am (i) 601 608
Technical support fee paid to Al & & K 2 AT R i
Taiwan Vedan S RE (ii) 2,199 2,184
Agency commission income Al & 72 R A YA A IR
received from Taiwan Vedan AEUWA (ii) 2 2
Notes: P 5%
(i) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, sales to () ANRADESRA RBMEBBER

the related parties were conducted in the normal course of
business in accordance with the underlying terms.

(ii) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and the fees are charged in accordance with the
terms of underlying agreements.

(c) Key management compensation
The compensation paid or payable to key management,
including all executive directors and senior management,
for employee services is shown below.

(c)

BMAEMEATEHZHEDER
BEBBREPET

iy FARBPDEHEIR ZEXRZFEAH
BEEBBREDET LAREME
RE 170 S BO AR AR LU K o

TEEEASHE
REERFOAHABNETEEEA
E (BEFMAATESEASRER
&) Z st -

2024 2023
US$'000 Us$'000
FET FE=7
Salaries and other short-term HEREMFEHRES R
employee benefits 4,144 2,862

Annual Report 2024 &3 199



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

33 EREALRZS (B)

(d) Year-end balances with the related parties (d) HBEBREALTZERGERH
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had the following A ZE_MNE+ZA=+—H K
significant balances with the related parties: EEEBEMEATZETELRN
T
2024 2023
“EBTHE TET=F
Note Us$’000 US$'000
B 5% TET FE
Current: BIEA :
Amount due from Taiwan FEUR & & IR FF RRIE
Vedan (i) 269 772
Amount due from Vedan Bio JE Wk £ A R
MIE (i) 50 -
Amount due to Taiwan Vedan FEfT & BRI RIE (i) (631) (582)
Loan to an associate ST —RHEBEARZ
™M (i) 122 120
Amount due from an associate E— R E AT
EQiE] (iii) 6 14
Amount due to Capron &1 Capron Group
Group Limited Limited X IB (iv) (12) (14)
Notes: Pk :

(i) All balances with Taiwan Vedan and Vedan Bio are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of

payment.

(i) The loan to an associate is unsecured, bears interest at
7.6% (2023: 4.5%) per annum, denominated in US$ and
repayable with 3 day-notice or in 3 years from the loan

draw down date.

(iiiy ~ The balance represents interest receivable from an

associate.

(iv)  The balance with Capron Group Limited is unsecured,
interest-free, denominated in US$ and repayable within

one year.
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(i) HEERARKSEMZRAER
HEARKIF - REREETE

FRER ©

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

B HBERATZERAEIR
A REFET 6% (TEZ=
4.5%) st B~ UETEHE ) WER
BERRREREIRBEMNPARNIE
AEE -

#ACapron Group Limited 2 #5857
EIRE R B UETFHELER
—FREE-
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4= B

AR MR M

34

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company

FAREERARKFEGED

ERREERRR

As at 31 December

w+=ZH=+—H
2024 2023
—EME ZEZ=F
Note Us$‘000 Us$'000
B 5 FEm FE=T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARZEE 166,030 166,030
Investment in an associate R—EBERTZ
BE 4,149 5,013
Loan to a subsidiary B —HEBAEZ
=N 710 610
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 170,889 171,653
Current assets REMEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE W B J&E A El RN 1B 55,015 53,509
Amount due from a related party BB REANLTRIE 8 5
Amount due from an associate FEW — R B E AR
IE 6 14
Loan to an associate BY—EBERTZ
I=E 122 120
Loan to a subsidiary BT —HRBARZ
=N 153 153
Prepayments and other receivables FE AT TR IE R E A FE IR
RIE 456 392
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 4,287 2,039
Total current assets REBEERE 60,047 56,232
Total assets BERE 230,936 227,885
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of EN/NETEZ= DN
the Company FE(L S
Share capital B2 15,228 15,228
Reserves & (Note(a))
(i 5E(a)) 211,706 208,187
Total equity R AR 226,934 223,415
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AR MBS RRIEE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 3 FREBEEEBERREEES (B
THE COMPANY (continued)

Balance sheet of the Company (continued) TATEERERAR (B

As at 31 December

w+=ZHB=+—H
2024 2023
Us$‘000 Us$’000
FET FET
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities WENRME
Accruals and other payables FEEt E A R RS
RIE 3,366 1,934
Bank borrowings RITBE - 1,952
Current income tax liabilities BNEAPRIS IR AR 5 2
Amount due to a related party FESBRIEANLRIE 631 582
Total current liabilities mENE B 4,002 4,470
Total equity and liabilities HakaEag 230,936 227,885
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board AAAEEBBEREEETEN T
of Directors on 25 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. “HE=ZAZ+HBSEMEAHTFIAL
RREZ
Yang, Tou-Hsiung Yang, Kun-Hsiang
YR ER L 13 16 ¥
Director Director
EF EZE
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34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 34 TRTEEEBRRHEEEEH (B)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Balance sheet of the Company (continued) TATEERRAR (B
Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company MizE(a) A A B EE 1 EY
Share Exchange Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
s E ERGHE REEA L]
Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE73 TEx FE F=rx
At 1 January 2023 A _E_=%—HF—H 194,098 46 4,830 198,974
Comprehensive income 2EIA
Profit for the year EEEREH - - 12,695 12,695
Other comprehensive income Hfth2EUKA
Currency translation difference  FERZ=ZE - 5 - 5
Total comprehensive income  Z2EUTALEZE - 5 12,695 12,700
Dividends paid BENKRE - - (3,487) (3,487)
At 31 December 2023 RZEBI=F
+ZB=+—H 194,098 51 14,038 208,187
At 1 January 2024 RIEZME—F—H 194,098 51 14,038 208,187
Comprehensive income Z2EBA
Profit for the year NEERF - - 11,163 11,163
Other comprehensive income HfthZEUKA
Currency translation difference  [ERZEZE - 21 - 21
Total comprehensive income 2 EUIA4EZE - 21 11,163 11,184
Dividends paid B - - (7,665) (7,665)
At 31 December 2024 RIZEZm&E
+ZA=+—8 194,098 72 17,536 211,706
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are
for the Group.

35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
35.1.1 Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred;

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

J fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement;
and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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35 HthZstHERHRE
KM EEH I R ZEFR G B RRER
BHEMEEEK RS HYREI IEE
BEREEMERRIE 2REE - 5K
R AKREEMBRR

35.1 EHFERIMEREE
3511 EFEEH
AEBRBWE S EBFR
BEBSHAR MAmUHE
AT EFEMEE - ShUHE
—ERBARFREBRNRE
BIE

e FBEEENATE;

e WWEBEEBAIEAAR
EENEE;

o AFEFEBHTRE,

o HANBLHEENE
MEEHEBEHNQF
B, &

e MBRARMEMEAEFE
RENATE.

MEF S RSP UL B AT 38
AEERFAENEGERE
REE DFREBEBARNA
FEFE 1D BBIIME SRR
Sho REBRBERKBEZE
BATESFEREEEG
WU EE M EEFE
BY EEFIBE SRS R U B B AR RY
IRt -
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R M B RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 35 HthZstBRBE (8)
(continued)
35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 35.1 & RBFEZE Tt (48)
(continued)

35.1.1 Business combinations (continued) 3511 EESH (&)

The excess of the:
° consideration transferred;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

35.1.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 35 HthZstERBE (8)

(continued)

35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 35.1 & FEMER T (5)
(continued)

35.1.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 35 1.2 B AE (#)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet respectively.

35.1.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially
being recognised at cost.

35.1.4 Joint Ventures

Investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures. Interests in
joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method, after initially being recognised at cost in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 35 HthS:ERESE (&)
(continued)
35.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 35.1 & RBFEZE Tt (48)
(continued)
35.1.5 Equity method 35.1.5 #wm%k
Under the equity method of accounting, the REETgsHE REVNT U
investments are initially recognised at cost and MAHER > HEBKABUNIE
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share HENERAEESLERE
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the FRWEER HEEE LR
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share Htt2mKARERLEER
of movements in other comprehensive income DEWREBELEMEZEWA
of the investee in other comprehensive income. HYEE) - BN FE UL E A T
Dividends received or receivable from associate and ReEtE¥NKRERIARE
joint venture are recognised as a reduction in the HIREENRLD

carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity- MAEFELERZ ARKSE
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest ZHEEERNBBENRZE
in the entity, including any other unsecured long- ez BB EAEMELR
term receivables, the Group does not recognise BRIABRWSIE  AEEAFE
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or MIRE—TEER BRIFEBEN
made payments on behalf of the other entity. HMEBAESEIIELRM
o
Unrealised gains on transactions between the FEBEBEHEBEABDKREE
Group and its associate and joint venture are TEZENAERATZWa
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in RAEEEZESERN#R
these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated FUHE - BRIFBFRR ZiEM
unless the transaction provides evidence of an EEEEEHRREZEE
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting HRIKREHGET T ULHE
policies of equity-accounted investees have been BEAREKRES 25t
changed where necessary to ensure consistency RENDVEREFE  LURRET
with the policies adopted by the Group. EARE BT Z BUE -
The Group determines at each reporting date AEBERERSHHAEER
whether there is any objective evidence that the BHEABIREELEZRE
investment in the associate and joint venture are EERRNEERRERE M
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates FERERE ~EETENA
the amount of impairment as the difference AR ERRE S EEERE
between the recoverable amount of the relevant BZEHAERESE LN
investment and its carrying value and recognises FealmRTEG—EHEA
the amount adjacent to ‘share of post-tax loss of BB EE) ®MEG—E
an associate’ or 'share of post-tax loss of a joint EETERMNBEEER
venture’ in the consolidated income statement. EEAEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.2

35.3

Separate financial statements of the Company
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in
consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Executive Directors of the Group.

35.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates ("the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in US$, which is the Company's

functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within ‘other
gains/(losses) - net’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.5

35.6

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example,
goodwill - are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

Financial assets

35.6.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss, and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

They are included in current assets, except for
amounts that are settled or expected to be
settled more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s financial assets at amortised
cost comprise trade and other receivables (Note
14), amounts due from related parties, restricted
deposits, short-term bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents (Note 35.8) in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Group's financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss comprise structured
bank deposits.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 35 HthFsBEEEE (8)
(continued)
35.6 Financial assets (continued) 35.6 HHIEEE (B)
35.6.2 Recognition and derecognition 35.6.2 MR R AR L HEST

MBEERREENXSH
(MFEEEAFEERHE
ZEEBH MR -MBEE
RERMBEEEREREDN
BAUEWSEBEREEER
EEEREEENANED AR

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of T B3R FRF AR IEFERD ©
ownership.
35.6.3 Measurement 3563 51 &€

RS DR NEBRY
BEEZATESM WHHH
BELFEATEFARS
(MZaFEFAERZ)) K
BUBEEERELEZRS
At EMBEE-

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments BBEITAEZBEBFERTER
depends on the Group's business model EREEEEZEBERARK
for managing the asset and the cash flow BEZREEREFEME
characteristics of the asset.

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income when
the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.6

35.7

35.8

35.9

Financial assets (continued)

35.6.4 Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instrument carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. Note 3.1(b) details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.

For other receivables and deposits carried at
amortised cost, the Group adopt three-stages
approach to assess the impairment. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

When measuring expected credit loss, the Group
considers historical default rate, current market
condition and forward-looking information.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less, they are classified as current
assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR M

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.10 Trade and other payables

35.1

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

General and specific borrowings costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MBS RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.12 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the year is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(a)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company, its subsidiaries, associate and
joint venture operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(b)  Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M B RRIEE

35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.12 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

35.13 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. A defined
benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan.

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.13 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (continued)

The liability recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows using interest rates of high quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and
that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension obligation. In countries
where there is no deep market in such bonds, the
market rates on government bonds are used.

The current service cost of a defined benefit plan,
recognised in the consolidated income statement in
employee benefit expense, except where included
in the cost of an asset, reflects the increase in the
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current year, benefit changes,
curtailments and settlements.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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35 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

35.14

35.15

35.16

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs, and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Dividends proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting
event and are not recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate. If the grants do
not relate to any specific expenditure incurred and all
attached condition were complied by the Group, they
are recognised under "other gains — net” in consolidated
income statement upon receipt of the grants.
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